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financial results artnet AG (EUR)

(in Mio.) 12/31/2006 12/31/2005 change

total revenue 8.416 6.509 29%

profit / loss from operations 1.831 1.107 65%

earnings before taxes, interest, depreciation and 

amortization, and non-cash compensation 2.032 1.237 64%

net profit 2.489 1.151 116%

earnings per share (diluted) 0,44 0,2 120%

weighted average shares (diluted) 5.703 5.659 1%

cash flows from operating activities 1.967 1.175 67%

staff 50 42 19%

cash and cash equivalents 2434 992 145%

shareholders’ equity 2432 104 2238%

total assets 4.684 2.264 107%
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artnet, the leading online platform

for the international art trade,

grants its users access to the glob-

al art market with a multitude of

innovative services. artnet users

are able to broaden their artistic

horizons, moving beyond the local

market and focusing their attentions on the internation-

al art industry. Galleries, auction houses, art collectors

and museums alike strike up both conversations – and

close deals – in this international environment. artnet

provides all the information art lovers and the scene’s

professional players need to remain up to date with daily

goings on in the art world, from price trends and 

06
current market prices to exhibition reports and schedules… 



artnet Galleries
introduces over 1,600 galleries in 250 cities with more
than 100,000 works by international artists. Collectors
can inform themselves about the works of art available
on the international market and engage in rapid global
networking in just a few clicks of the mouse. With their
artnet presence, the galleries are able to broaden their
potential markets and thus increase both their sales
and assets. 
Access to the artnet Galleries register is free. The gal-
leries pay a monthly contribution in order to maintain
their presence. 

artnet Estimate Reports
help investors and collectors to ascertain the estimat-
ed prices of works of art without having to commission
a certified expert or rely on their own expertise. After
being provided with information and visual reproduc-
tions by the client, artnet experts research the market
value on the basis of artnet’s extensive data files and
send the customer a detailed report with relevant price
references. 
artnet Estimate Reports is a subscription-based ser-
vice. 

artnet Price Database
is the most extensive online database to valuate works
of art. The artnet Price Database contains 3 million auc-
tion results from over 500 international auction houses
dating back to 1985, enabling both current market prices
and long-term trends to be traced rapidly and reliably.
By offering this service, artnet succeeds in creating both
transparency and decision-related confidence within 
a highly specialized market. The  artnet Price Database
is the only online resource that contains visual repro-
ductions of all works, thus facilitating a precise evalu-
ation of art. In November 2006, artnet launched the Data-
base for 20th Century Design, which allows users to
determine the precise market value of modern design
objects too. 
The artnet Price Database platform can be accessed via
subscription. 

artnet Market Trends
displays artists’ market performance in a format mod-
eled on share indices in clear tables and diagrams. art-
net’s market development reports contain information
on the year-on-year development of the artist’s auction
revenue, price level and market frequency results, in
addition to assessments of extent of their popularity and
liquidity. The service is aimed at investors, financial insti-
tutions, consultants and collectors who are looking to
safeguard their purchase decisions with precise base
data. 
artnet Market Trends is a subscription-based service. 

artnet Art Basel
is an exclusive partnership with the Art Basel interna-
tional art show. Along with the participatimg galleries’
inventory an interactive plan of the exhibition halls, includ-
ing photographs of the gallery stands, will be uploaded
on the artnet site from the last day of the Art Basel art
fair onwards. Here, visitors and collectors alike will be
able to find out about the galleries participating in the
fair and the works on display, in addition to confirming
their impressions of the fair itself. Art Basel will thus be
prolonged for a further 2 months – and will enjoy un-
precedented international accessibility. 
Access to artnet Art Basel is free of charge. 

artnet Magazine
is artnet’s art magazine, which is updated on a daily
basis. Famous authors analyze the newest trends, report
on art fairs and exhibitions and provide a unique insid-
er view of the art market in the form of critical articles.
The artnet Magazine has become one of the most impor-
tant sources of information for art lovers and profes-
sionals alike online, and thus makes a decisive contri-
bution to artnet’s high level of customer loyalty and
valorization of commercial offers. 
The contents of the artnet Magazine are freely acces-
sible to users. 

artnet Market Alerts 
sends an automatic e-mail notification to subscribers
as soon as works by a specific artist or areas of inter-
est to the collector are offered for sale by galleries or
auction houses. Users of the artnet Market Alert ser-
vice thus benefit from considerable time- and informa-
tion-related advantages when making purchase deci-
sions, and are continually briefed on current market
developments.
A subscription fee is charged for the artnet Market Alert 
service. 

artnet Monographs
is an illustrated catalogue of biographies and artworks
which features the most important modern artists of
our time. The artnet Monographs’ databases are con-
tinually expanded and updated in order to offer art enthu-
siasts a reliable research source. artnet Monographs is
an ideal platform for artists wishing to stabilize their
market presence. 
The artnet Monographs platform is freely accessible to
users.

artnet Products
5artnet Products



Letter to shareholders 

Dear shareholders, 

With sales growth of 29% and profit-growth prior to income tax of 58%,
artnet AG once again finds itself in the pleasing position of being able to
look back on an extremely successful financial year. The prolonged growth
and increasing profitability prior to income tax of 22% (18%) in what is
an extremely favorable environment confirms and upholds the previous
year’s forecast. 
This annual result heralds the successful completion of the first phase
of artnet’s business development. This constituted the development and
market launch of information-related products for the art market, whose
aim was to provide art collectors with a firm, reliable basis for their pur-
chase decisions. We also created trust during this initial phase – trust
in artnet as a reliable source of market-related information, and, con-
comitantly, trust in the art market itself, whose price trends have beco-
me increasingly transparent thanks to artnet’s endeavors. 
2007 will see the launch of phase two, as artnet launches an online art
auction platform. The chief purpose of the development of our range of
information-related services was to work toward the creation of a trust-
worthy, reliable context for art auctions, for trust is a crucial prerequi-
site for the success of internet art auctions. artnet has now had an oppor-
tunity to prepare itself for the introduction of the auction platform, and
is primed to take this step – both in technical and financial terms. 
We plan to fully reconfigure artnet’s technical capacity over the course of
2007 in order to ensure that the platform is able to withstand the impact
of the aforementioned growth. The artnet site navigation will also be rede-
signed, in order to ease user access to the amount of available informa-
tion, which has increased enormously of late. The online auctions will sub-
sequently be incorporated within this reconfiguration. Users will also be
able to retrieve the entire bit depth, with all the comparative values, direct-
ly from artnet. This guarantees bidders comprehensive protection when
bidding, a service which only artnet can provide, and which is absolutely
essential to the success we anticipate that our new product will enjoy. 

These various steps naturally require a considerable investment, which
artnet will be able to finance independently, yet which will inevitably place
a significant financial burden on the company, with the result that the
profit level is unlikely to rise this year. However, we anticipate that this
drain on corporate resources will have been forgotten by 2008, and that
the auctions will be financing themselves, or even generating a profit. 

In view of the fact that the two main auction houses each generate appro-
ximately four billion dollars from art, neglecting large segments of the
market in the process, the risk which this step represents is completely
justified in proportion to the potential opportunities it offers us. artnet is
the only company worldwide which has systematically prepared itself to
take this step, and which is capable of fulfilling all the preconditions for
the successful implementation of online art auctions. 

With artnet’s second phase of business development, we are drawing
closer to our the actual goal of our long-term business plan, namely the
establishment of the global online art market, thus laying the founda-
tions for continued, permanent turnover and profit increases. 

Yours truly 

Hans Neuendorf 
CEO, artnet AG 



artnet offers a community of over one million collectors
and professional players in the art scene extensive access
to the art world across four continents. Although there is
a great number of so-called “art portals”, no other web-
site or print medium has succeeded in attracting even a
fraction of artnet’s overall following. The internet and the
new possibilities created by the development of digital
data compression have effectively revolutionized the art
trade. artnet thus owes a great deal of its success to an
industry which has experienced immense growth over the
last 40 years. 
Communicating through visual reproductions is indispen-
sable for the sale of art originals. At present, internation-
al sales of visual and decorative art are estimated to be
almost 30 billion US dollars (source: TEFAF). While it is
impossible to make reliable estimates as regards individ-
ual sales, prices at auction (the only price data available
for public access) have risen by an additional 42% against
the record sales of 1989, the peak year in the last art mar-
ket boom. 
If viewed in an historical sense, the ”art market” in its cur-
rent form can be considered a post-war phenomenon. Forty
years ago, the term “art market” was rarely used in gen-
eral parlance. It goes without saying that art has been chang-
ing hands for thousands of years, but this practice was
extremely secretive up until the recent past. There were
only between 30 and 35 important art dealers in New York
forty years ago, while today this figure has swelled to
between 600 and 700. Auctions were formerly a purely
British affair whose clients were usually art dealers
themselves. 

At the beginning of the 1970s, Sotheby’s and Christie’s
launched their “British Invasion”, opening a large number
of offices on the European continent and in the United
States. In 1964, Sotheby’s acquired Park Bernet, the Unit-
ed States’ largest fine art auction house, and the two com-
panies subsequently introduced evening auctions at around
the same time, thereby creating attractive framework con-
ditions for collectors and art dealers making artistic pur-
chases. At this time, millions were spent on generously
distributed catalogues, brochures and other advertising
material, which rapidly became an indispensable refer-
ence source for potential collectors. Prices became trans-
parent for the first time. Estimates were provided and the
listing of premiums became mandatory. All those with suf-
ficient funds were able to participate in the market. The
way was paved for all. 
In 1967, a group of approximately 20 German art dealers,
including artnet’s Chief Executive Officer, Hans Neuen-
dorf, withdrew their stocks from the various gallery spaces
and founded Art Cologne. This became the model for all
art fairs, of which there are at least 100 today. This idea
proved significant because it allowed a broad public in the
”neutral ground” of the exhibition halls easy access to the
collections of participating art dealers in addition to the
dealers themselves. It was then possible to obtain prices
and draw comparisons. Access to these figures encouraged
decision-related confidence and provided increased trans-
parency. 
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artnet and the development of the art market 

Although there is a great number of so-called “art por-
tals”, no other website or print medium has succeeded
in attracting even a fraction of artnet’s overall following.

The Internet and the new possibilities created by the
development of digital data compression have effec-
tively revolutionized the art trade. 
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artnet and the development of the art market 

Although the majority of artists would probably prefer to
be compared to a “sports car” than to a “small vehicle”,
the market needs more choice in order to satisfy the
increasing demand, and the number of works in the art
market is, after all, limited. 
The number of American artists escalated during the post-
war years. Meanwhile, approx. 40,000 artists graduate
from universities and colleges annually in New York alone.
The number of new media forms also experienced a boom.
More and more photographers and illustrators satiated
the glut of newspapers and magazines. Prints and edi-
tions sprouted like weeds. Artists began to work in all
conceivable media – both old and new. Today, there is
more art than ever before. 
This rapid mid-range growth increased the demand for
art immensely. A higher standard of education thus
became prevalent among a large number of Americans,
who had received a state-funded college education after
the Second World War thanks to the so-called “G.I. Bill”,
or Servicemen’s Readjustment Act, and now traveled over-
seas in droves to visit Europe’s cultural capitals with their
cathedrals and museums. Art, particularly contemporary
art, became the middle-class antidote to the ”invisible
closets” diagnosed by journalist Vance Packard in Amer-
ican society in the wake of Tom Wolfe’s “The Painted Word”. 
The number of dealers and auctioneers mushroomed

enormously during the 1970s and 1980s. An intense rival-
ry developed amongst collectors, who vied with each other
over works by popular artists. The gallery owners intro-
duced their own versions of evening sales in the form of
private views peopled with celebrity guests and socialites.
Dealers published their own catalogues and advertising
materials in order to solicit their desired artists. One of
these dealers was Hans Neuendorf. Although his portfo-
lio comprised artists like Andy Warhol, Francis Picabia,
Georg Baselitz und Cy Twombly, he did not choose New
York, London or Paris as the location for his gallery. He
made the unusual decision to move his gallery space from
Hamburg to Frankfurt am Main, where there were only
two or three important galleries at the time. Neuendorf
only retained a small branch in Cologne, which had become
the chief art capital of Germany during the post-war years.
Although Neuendorf always participated in the Art Cologne
and Art Basel art shows, his method of communicating,
namely in the form of art catalogues and monographs,
would prove crucial to the success of his enterprise. 
In 1989, Neuendorf discovered a new technology in Paris
which enabled images to be compressed and sent from
computer to computer via telephone lines. The future
was clear to him from that moment on: The days of expen-
sive four-color separation, printing stock and postage are
over. In 1989, Neuendorf discovered a new technology in Paris

which enabled images to be compressed and sent from

computer to computer via telephone lines. The future

was clear to him from that moment on: The days of

expensive four-color separation, printing stock and

postage are over.
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The breakthrough came in 1995, when Neuendorf trans-

ferred the entire database to the Internet. Neuendorf

founded an online magazine, the artnet Magazine, and

launched the gallery network artnet Galleries in the

same year. Today, in the eleventh year of artnet’s inter-

net presence, the artnet Magazine receives nearly a

million hits a month. artnet Galleries receives 5.7 mil-

lion hits and, with its tally of over 100,000 works of art

and more than 1,600 galleries, provides visitors and

clients with the world’s most extensive market overview.

12 The development of the art market

Hans Neuendorf founded Centrox in 1989 with five other
associates and proceeded to launch the first commercial
application of the new technology. This forerunner of the
artnet Price Database, artnet’s current price database,
was an illustrated compilation of sales records from over
500 auction houses, an archive which, in essence, com-
prised all auction lots in the field of the visual arts since
1985. This archive granted collectors and art professio-
nals alike easy access to illustrations and data relating to
the works of almost 200,000 artists, and could be searched
by both format, medium, auction date and, most impor-
tantly, by price. 
However, at that time it was a proprietary database. At
least another five years would pass until the internet was
suitable for use by the general public. 
The early stages were complicated by other obstacles.
The majority of those employed in the art industry were
unfamiliar with computers or shied away from the new
technology and even technology in general. Added to this,
the auctioneers complained that the availability of infor-

mation via electronic means jeopardized the sale of their
printed catalogues. 
The breakthrough came in 1995, when Neuendorf trans-
ferred the entire database to the internet. Neuendorf
founded an online magazine, the artnet Magazine, and
launched the gallery network artnet Galleries in the same
year. Still operating with extremely slender means, Neuen-
dorf enlisted a high-flying publishing executive for the
magazine - Walter Robinson, who, at this time, had already
held the post of editor and author at the American art
magazine “Art in America” for 18 years. Neuendorf
appointed a powerful sales team entrusted with courting
potential clients at the world’s art fairs and in interna-
tional art capitals in order to promote the gallery network. 
From a current perspective, these marketing initiatives
were the key to artnet’s success. While other internet
entrepreneurs immersed themselves in the intricate web
of software development, Neuendorf sent out his sales
team and showed the customers the ways in which they
could benefit from the new technology. 

Communication through visual reproductions is indis-
pensable for the sale of art originals.

The early stages of artnet 
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artnet and the contemporary art market 

Casting a retrospective glance back over this quarter 

century, artnet may well go down in history as having

made the most important contribution to the develop-

ment of the art market. 

Today, in the eleventh year of artnet’s internet presence,
the artnet Magazine receives nearly a million hits a month.
artnet Galleries receives 5.7 million hits and, with its tally
of over 100,000 works of art and more than 1,600 gal-
leries, provides visitors and clients with the world’s most
extensive market overview. 
The artnet Price Database is used by experts, dealers,
auctioneers, private institutions and government author-
ities (including the American tax authority IRS and the
FBI), but predominantly provides private collectors with
what is effectively an illustrated reference work impart-
ing professional knowledge. Gallery owners and auction-
eers use artnet in the sale process of significant works of
art by identifying and investigating comparable lots with-
in the artnet Price Database. In 2004 Sotheby’s launched
a program in which all art lots on offer in New York and
published on sothebys.com are linked to a sales history
branded by artnet. Bill Rupprecht, CEO of Sotheby’s, obvi-
ously shares the opinion that price transparency does the
industry good. 
In future, art as an “alternative investment” will be able
to serve the financial world even further. There is plenty
talk about art as a new asset class for potzfolio diversifi-
cation. Hedge fund managers like Stephen Cohen are

already hitting the headlines with sensational purchases
at Sotheby’s and Christie’s. And for every Stephen Cohen
or Henry Kravis, there are legions of investors scanning
artnet Prices and artnet Galleries for future profit earn-
ers. The artnet Price Database provides the financial world
and its ever-increasing generation of investors with a safe-
ty cushion, a type of Art NASDAQ for art collectors. 
artnet couples its artnet Price Database service with the
artnet Market Alerts. This “rapid warning system“ informs
collectors by e-mail as soon as works by their favorite
artists are offered for sale at auctions or by dealers. art-
net has also developed a new range of indices for the
world of finance, with which analysts can track the quan-
titative progress of specific artists or groups of artists
over extended periods and retrieve liquidity reports. Deal-
er-to-dealer auctions, which increase market efficiency
by reducing the premiums dealers pay at auction when
their lots are sold, are also being planned for the near
future.
Casting a retrospective glance back over this quarter cen-
tury, artnet may well go down in history as having made
the most important contribution to the development of
the art market. 
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We believe the time has come for artnet to hazard a
second attempt. We have been preparing ourselves for
this moment for many years. The same old objection,

Mr. Neuendorf, 2007 looks set to be one of the most important years in the artnet
company history. artnet will be launching an auction platform for art in the wake of
intensive preparation and market analyses. How will this platform function? 

Hans Neuendorf: We held auctions for a time in 1999. However, we were
too early back then and didn’t get particularly far. However, we certain-
ly gained in experience as a result of the undertaking, and it is this same
experience which we intend to apply to our latest endeavor. Up until now,
neither eBay nor Sotheby’s have been able to organize successful inter-
net art auctions for other reasons, namely those which do not apply to
artnet in any case. However, we believe the time has come for artnet to
hazard a second attempt. We have been preparing ourselves for this
moment for many years by creating and perfecting information-related
services, which place amateurs and professionals alike in the picture
without overwhelming them or giving them cause for alarm. People are
prepared to purchase art with the aid of visual reproductions only, par-
ticularly in the fields of photography, printed graphics and contemporary
art. The same old objection, namely that clients wish to see the original
before making a purchase, is always wheeled out when the subject of
internet auctions comes up. However, that is simply untrue. The mem-
bers of our gallery network have opened our eyes to the truth of the mat-
ter. The New York Times recently published an article about a success-
ful tactic employed by art dealers who displayed digital images relating
to upcoming exhibitions on their websites. These exhibitions sold out
long before they opened as a direct result. Examples like these accen-
tuate the fact that art can indeed be sold over the internet without the
need for in situ viewing. 

How do vendors and clients benefit by participating in artnet auctions rather than in
traditional ones? 

Hans Neuendorf: First and foremost, a considerable advantage is that
these auctions can be conducted at far shorter notice. There is no need
for weeks of extensive preparations including photography, shipping,
insurance – and the related costs. It is merely necessary to upload a
photo and the bidding can begin. Furthermore, the handling process is
so fast that the period between the initial telephone call and the deliv-

ery or transfer of the money is reduced to around four weeks instead of
six months, as is the case with conventional auctions. That is one of the
chief benefits. The second main advantage – an extremely important
competitive advantage for us – is the fact that the customary commis-
sioning and transaction costs can be decreased from 30% to approxi-
mately 10% as a result of the amount saved during the reduced prepa-
rations. We believe that a growing number of people are likely to abandon
conventional auctions and defect to internet equivalents when they have
become accustomed to the new concept. 

Won’t this result in direct competition with the traditional auction houses? After all,
auction houses like Sotheby’s are some of artnet’s most significant collaboration
partners. 

Hans Neuendorf: Rivalry in this field will be inevitable. However, expe-
rience has shown that we are likely to attract an entirely new group of
clients who feel ill at ease in the major auction houses or prefer to bid
from a distance for other reasons. We believe that we will find ourselves
developing a new market rather than fighting over the old one. Moreover,
there is an enormous market for works of art which are disregarded by
the major auction houses. Indeed, at the moment, we are specializing in
a field in which large auction houses, especially Sotheby’s, are no longer
active, namely in auction lots with a value of less than 10,000 $. This is
an area which we can cover in an extremely competent manner; an
extremely large market which is currently undersupplied. There is an
almost desperate need for an auction market in this sector. 
Another area open to us and which does not involve intense competition
with other auction houses involves the many artists who are no longer
accepted by auction houses – essentially, all artists apart from the most
famous ones. Auction houses now only sell works by extremely famous
or fashionable artists, as they cannot afford to risk being left with unsold
lots. They are obliged to sell an extremely high percentage of lots in order
to make a profit in view of their high costs. We do not have this problem.
We are in a position to offer all these artists an auction platform, simi-
lar to Amazon, which enables many authors, musician and manufactur-
ers to sell books, CDs and DVDs which would not normally be stocked

Hans Neuendorf

Hans Neuendorf, CEO of artnet,
is considered one of the most suc-
cessful art dealers in the world.
Through his galleries in Hamburg,
Cologne and Frankfurt, he has
played a definitive role in the
establishment of various contem-
porary artists’ careers including
Andy Warhol, Cy Twombly, David
Hockney, Richard Hamilton
Robert Graham, Billy Al Bengston,
Georg Baselitz, Bernd Koberling,
Georg-Karl Pfahler and the Ital-
ian artists, Lucio Fontana and
Emilio Vedova.  In addition, he has
published an extensive assort-
ment of art books and catalogs.
As a pioneer in the art market, he
was one of the original founders
of Art Cologne, Colgone’s first
international art fair, established
in 1967. The fair was hugely suc-
cessful at bringing together hith-
erto geographically disconnected
art dealers and galleries, and
enabling an overview of the inter-
national art market.  Hans Neuen-
dorf brought his art expertise to
artnet when he joined its efforts in
1990. In 1992, he became the prin-
cipal shareholder and Chairman
of the Board. He took over the
position of CEO in January 1995.
In 2006, the National Arts Club of
New York awarded Hans Neuen-
dorf the Medal of Honor for Visu-
al Arts in recognition of his life’s
work in the arts.  
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in conventional stores as the costs would be prohibitive. This means that
sub-markets exist for many products, including works of art, which can-
not be supplied by the retail industry, but which generate high turnover
via internet sales and distribution. This is why we believe that it is to
everyone’s advantage – us, the artists and the general public – if we
broaden the spectrum of the works of art on offer. The art market will
become far more multifaceted and more interesting as a result. 

How do you safeguard the reliability and authenticity of the items on offer? Will you
inspect each auction lot in advance? 

Hans Neuendorf: No, the items will not be received and examined. We
will be relying on the respective dealers to do this. We will primarily be
presenting deliveries from dealers known to us and who we will be able
to exclude from further auctions if they do not collaborate with us in a reli-
able manner. In addition, we will be accepting goods from private individ-
uals and collectors who we consider reliable. We therefore won’t be check-
ing the individual items – instead subjecting the delivering parties to close
scrutiny. 

You mentioned that artnet was unable to assert itself in the field of internet auctions
seven years ago. Why do you believe that you will achieve success in 2007? 

Hans Neuendorf: Back then, the public wasn’t ready to operate online
at all. Many gallery owners and dealers didn’t even own a computer. At
this point, the internet was still coming into being. We really were far too
ahead of our time. However, the internet has now become a part of daily
life and is utterly accepted. Nowadays, items worth millions are traded
over the internet, from jewellery to rare, expensive cars and even real
estate. All this has long been common practice. In this respect, there is
no reason why this shouldn’t apply to art as well, particularly because
artnet has a competitive advantage, offering clients an added service in
the form of information which only we provide. artnet does not simply
offer an auction lot, but always provides a market context and back-
ground to each item which can be accessed at all times. At our auctions,
clients will be able to draw comparisons with works of art auctioned off
in the past, images of which will be included next to each current lot. We

will also be offering price trends in the form of graphs and index charts,
allowing our clients to inform themselves about the artist in question
both via these tools and in artnet’s extensive selection of catalogue raison-
nés. Clients will also be able to view other works by the same artist
offered in the artnet galley network, gaining an instant comparative mar-
ket overview with a single mouse click. 

What effect will the auction platform have on turnover and profit? 
Hans Neuendorf: We have high expectations in this area. We believe that
the revenue generated by this service will exceed the takings yielded by
all the other artnet services within a relatively short period of time. The
market really is in a state of emergency as far as the resale of art is con-
cerned. If one wishes to auction off a work of art, a print, for example,
for EUR 5,000, some auction houses actually deduct up to 50% of the
sales price. Our auctions will not only be faster and simpler, they will,
above all, offer clients and dealers far, far better value for money. This
is why we are confident that this service will be well-received. 

untrue. People are prepared to purchase art with the aid
of visual reproductions only, particularly in the fields of
photography, printed graphics and contemporary art. 

namely that clients wish to see the original before making
a purchase, is always wheeled out when the subject of
internet auctions comes up. However, that is simply
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You will be heading the reorganization and renewed designing of the artnet inter-
net presence this year. How far is this relaunch necessary? 

Jacob Pabst: We have observed that new users, in particular, frequent-
ly experience difficulties when searching for specific elements on the
website. Not all the information is directly accessible immediately. 
One of our main motivations for the relaunch is thus to improve the visi-
bility and transparency of the various products on offer and to organize
the navigation as intuitively as possible. We aim to improve the artnet
site’s ease of use. We have also decided to overhaul the internal soft-
ware on a step by step basis. The website has been growing constantly
for over a decade now, and the time has come to reprogram it using new
technologies. We are now looking at creating a fast, reliable site and thus
establishing a basis for artnet’s future development. 
This will also include a reorganization of the various peripheral data
maintenance structures. In recent years, artnet has acquired a great deal
of new customers, and the production tools with which we work no lon-
ger satisfy our requirements. 

Which changes can artnet users expect in terms of design and functionality? 
Jacob Pabst: The website will be completely redesigned. We will be pre-
serving the original artnet conceptual image, but the site configuration
will be clearer and more elegant and the navigation system will become
simpler and more logical. We also plan to give our various products and
services more standardized, precise names. 
Our prime goal in terms of the site’s functionality is to work towards the
clearer association of information which has, until now, been offered
separately on a range of product-specific pages, in order to ensure that
our users always retain a complete market overview. We also intend to
launch several new products and a multitude of smaller-scale improve-
ments, such as a permanent area tailored to the users’ individual needs,
in which each user will be able to create their own free profile in future.
This area will offer a range of individual customization options. It will
even be possible for users to set up their own personal “ideal collec-
tion”. 

What are the greatest technical challenges posed by the redesigning process? 
Jacob Pabst: The greatest technical challenge is the successful parallel
operation and conceptual design of the existing components and the new
components. In addition, designing a new data base structure and rewri-
ting all the queries was another large-scale challenge, and, at the begin-
ning, it was difficult to find an eligible partner who was capable of exe-
cuting our requirements correctly. 

How will you ensure that the relaunch goes smoothly? Will the redesigned artnet
website be going online at a specific time, or do you plan to carry out the conver-
sion more gradually? 

Jacob Pabst: As I said, we are aiming for a complete reimplementation
of the site and all the production processes. 
This will include a wide selection of improvements and new product ideas. 
We have thus taken the trouble to create a detailed portfolio of informa-
tion describing all the products and processes and the requirements of
the new system. We have also decided to tackle the implementation with
several partners in view of the size of the undertaking and our chrono-
logical objectives. We have thus created a precise schedule which per-
mits a high level of parallelism. The individual work packages will be
placed online gradually during the course of the year. As far as the design
is concerned, we are currently in favor of placing the new layout online
at a specific time in its entirety. 

Fundamental changes invariably involve an adjustment for users. How do you plan
to inform users about the relaunch? Will they play an active role in the redesigning
process? 

Jacob Pabst: We have every intention of informing artnet’s main users of
the changes at an early stage. We have always prided ourselves on con-
ducting an intensive dialogue with our customers, and take their respon-
ses and reactions very seriously. This is one of the main reasons why we
decided to proceed with the relaunch in the first place. It is the express
result of suggestions and requests by our users, based in part on appli-
cation tests which we carried out at their instigation and encouragement.
It goes without saying that they will be included in the redesigning and
reorganization process too. For example, we will be sending draft ver-
sions of the new layout to several customers and telling them how the
navigation will function. We will thus be giving them the opportunity to
provide us with feedback, concurrently ensuring that they will immedi-
ately be able to find their bearings on the new site. 

Jacob Pabst

Jacob Pabst, Vice President Art-
net Worldwide Corp., is in charge
of technology and product devel-
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product development projects at
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and introduction of many new
products. Together with his team
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Our prime goal in terms of the site’s functionality is to
ensure that our users always retain a complete mar-
ket overview. 



Mr. Keller, you could have provided an interactive plan of the exhibition halls on your
own website. Why did you select artnet as a collaboration partner? 

Samuel Keller: Simply because artnet is the internet’s leading art portal.
It is both technically mature and extremely beneficial for the collector.  

Mr. Eller, don’t you think that the Art Basel|artnet amalgamation may take away the
incentive to visit the fair itself? If, in future, customers will be able to view the most
important works online and contact the gallery owners retrospectively, it surely won’t
be necessary for them to make the journey to Basel at all. 

Thomas Eller: Not at all. We are talking about two very different approach-
es here. It is utterly impossible to recreate the thrill and dynamic vitality of
the fair online. The visitors want to experience the art on display and meet
with their business partners. However, it’s also a fact that collectors pur-
chase works of art on the basis of online reproductions. They have an exten-
sive knowledge of the market and are able to judge the precise condition
of the work presented as a JPG image by trusted dealers. In contrast, other
collectors wish to experience the original work of art in situ. This collabo-
ration is uniting two different ways of experiencing art in order to create an
improved and more extensive overall service. 

Mr. Keller, the costs of the ArtBasel|artnet internet collaboration will result in an
increase in the exhibitors’ stand fees. How will you persuade the gallery owners that
the increased charges are justified

Samuel Keller: The galleries will receive increased benefits at a good
price, including international internet presence and new opportunities
to sell their products and make new contacts. The galleries will take all
this into account. 

Mr. Eller, you mentioned the benefits for collectors. How will artnet profit from the
collaboration? 

Thomas Eller: One of the main arguments in favor of the collaboration
was the fact that, during the negotiations, we ascertained that, with Art
Basel, we already enjoyed the support of a common denominator of
approximately fifty per cent of the galleries, as half of the exhibitors are
also affiliated to the artnet gallery network. This suggests that the world’s
top galleries trust both Art Basel and artnet. For us, this means that we
can contact the remaining fifty per cent, who are not yet members of art-
net, and convince them of the efficacy of our services. 

The collaboration is initially planned for one year. Will it be continued after 2007? 
Thomas Eller: I assume so. 
Samuel Keller: If we are successful, that is certainly the plan. 
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Mr. Eller, Mr. Keller, the announcement of a collaboration between art Basel and art-
net generated an intense press response in December 2006. How did you rate the
public reaction? 

Thomas Eller: It didn’t surprise me, as the collaboration is a major coup
and a real boost for the art world. The combination of Art Basel, the most
important art fair, and artnet, the online market leader, was inspired and
virtually instinctive. We received many congratulatory messages in the
wake of this announcement. Many galleries and collectors told us that, in
their opinion, the collaboration is an absolutely wonderful idea. After all,
purchasing art both at the fair and online is an established practice among
art collectors. The interconnection of the two services means that it will
now be possible to do both – concurrently. 
Samuel Keller: The reactions from the art world were so positive because 
the collaboration between Art Basel and artnet is advantageous for all
involved. 

Mr. Eller, what will the partnership entail? 
Thomas Eller: Going live on the last day of the fair artnet will be present-
ing the majority of all artworks brought to Art Basel by the galleries. This
will give rise to substantial improvements in terms of the art fair’s dura-
tion and its geographical range. An international public will be able to view
the world’s largest and best selection of works of art over a two month
period. We will thus not only be supporting the galleries’ post-fair sales,
but also presenting the art works to those who have missed out on Art
Basel. The online navigation is structured in such a way that it is possible
to search for both artists and galleries. In addition, an interactive plan of
the exhibition halls leads visitors to the individual galleries, helping them
to locate the various art works. It is frequently the case that we view a work
of art which initially makes only a fleeting impression on us. Yet it contin-
ues to grow in our memories, becoming more and more important. Unfor-
tunately, we have left the fair by this time, and forgotten to write down the
name of the gallery in which the work was displayed, but we can still see
its precise location in our mind’s eye. It is thus possible to return online,
find the work of art in question and get in touch with the gallery. That is
another extremely useful service. 

Thomas Eller
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With the implementation of the 20th century design database a segment of the Dec-
orative Arts Database has already been put online. Where do you see this service
going in the future? Is there a huge potential for additional services related to this
database?

Bill Fine: Designers and architects want to share the limelight with the art
stars, and we're the perfect venue. There is now a convergence between
art and design objects. This is also reflected in ever-higher auction records
set by design objects and furniture, or top niche art galleries mounting
design shows. artnet is well equipped to service an audience that is inter-
ested in both, art and design. The new database of 20th Century Design
has been very catalytic where the galleries network and advertising are
concerned.  Interestingly, and surprisingly, our design galleries are now
growing faster on a percentage basis than the art galleries.  I would esti-
mate we'll add at least 130 new accounts in this category this calendar year.
It's also true that, when placed in our artist index, these guys get killer
placement in Google. 

In 2005 artnet Estimate Reports was implemented. How have artnet users respond-
ed to this product?

Bill Fine: There is certainly enthusiastic demand for this service among
collectors. We are now getting 5 or 6 inquiries per day and the amount
is increasing. artnet provides collectors with the most reliable numbers
and facts  available on the market. The estimate reports are also one of
the crucial factors for the succes of our future auctions. No competitor
can offer their clients the variety of tools artnet has to safeguard their
buying decisions. It is definitely one of our greatest unique selling propo-
sitions.

In 2006 a sales staff for China was hired. What has this team accomplished? What
are the future plans for this market?

Bill Fine: China is one of the fastest growing art markets international-
ly with galleries and auction houses sprouting in numbers. The Chinese
market at least from the perspective of auction houses there is purely
domestic however. They only sell to Chinese customers. It is artnet’s
strategic goal in China to become the pre-eminent website to provide

Bill Fine
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information about the Chinese art market and also connect it to the inter-
national trade. 
We hired one very competent Sales Manager in China in January. The
return on investment was immediate and we look to add another Sales
Representatives there this month. We also just employed a Chinese
speaking Gallery Account Coordinator in the German office from where
we will be servicing the Asian markets for the time being.

A contract was signed for the international rights for the images used on artnet´s
site. How does this affect the future development of the business?

Bill Fine: As profits increased for artnet during recent years so did the
pressure from the German copyright agency VG BildKunst for royalties.
As German copyright law is rather vague with regard to the amounts
that could have been claimed by copyright agencies, management entered
into a preliminary 3-year agreement with VG Bildkunst representing more
than 60 other international agencies that put an upper limit to future
claims and enables artnet to operate without pressure of potentially very
large claims. The agreement stipulates that artnet does not believe that
the application of copyright laws to its activity is justified. artnet intends
to work on a clarification of this point in the future. For the next three
years all image rights worldwide are covered. 

In the 2005 Annual Report a relaunch of the entire artnet site was announced for
2006. What caused the delay of this relaunch until 2007?

Bill Fine: The re-launch is without a doubt one of the most challenging
projects in the history of our company. Thorough preparation was of much
more importance to us than meeting abstract timelines. We have very
clear ideas about how to advance the functionality for, as well as the sig-
nificance of the site to the art market. In the future all products will be
much more closely connected. A new navigation will also give our audi-
ence all pertinent information on the artists they are interested at all
times. We are calling this a 360° market view. This new approach will firm-
ly secure our market leadership. We will also take the relaunch as an
opportunity to streamline internal workflows and make them more effi-
cient. This will also have a tremendously positive effect on production costs
and the quality of our products.
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The Supervisory Board, which did not establish any committees, performed its
duties in accordance with the laws and articles of association and advised the
Board of Directors. During 2006, the meetings took place on January 31, Febru-
ary 14, March 29, April 27, September 5, November 3, and December 14 and
18. The Executive Board provided detailed information throughout the year,
both verbally and in writing, on the position of the company, on the course of
the business as well as on the strategy and important measures taken. The
Executive Board regularly discussed issues of fundamental importance for the
company policy with the Supervisory Board.
In the meetings, the Supervisory Board focused primarily on the company's
employment policy and the remuneration system as there had been difficul-
ties in the past recruiting qualified personnel, in particular for Artnet World-
wide Corporation. In the meeting on November 3, 2006, the Supervisory Board
focused intensively on the current and future business development of the
company. This meeting took place in the offices of Artnet Worldwide Corpora-
tion. In the course of this meeting, the Supervisory Board spoke individually
and extensively to the members of staff in charge of the individual depart-
ments. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board approved of having the shares
quoted in the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The shares
have been listed in the Prime Standard since 1 February 2006.
The annual report and the consolidated financial statements of artnet AG for
the business year 2006 as prepared by the Board of Directors in accordance
with HGB (German Commercial Code) and IFRS, resp., were audited together
with the management report and the group management report by the audi-
tors Ebner, Stolz, Mönning GmbH, Hamburg. The auditors arrived at the con-
clusion that the annual report under HGB as well as the consolidated financi-
al statements under IFRS provisions represent a true and fair picture of the
net assets, financial position and results of operations for the business year,
and issued an unqualified audit opinion for the documents audited.
The annual report and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
on 31 December 2006 as prepared by the board of directors for artnet AG were
presented for auditing together with the management reports. After comple-
ting the audit, the auditors attended the financial statements meeting of the
Supervisory Board and reported on the results of their audit. The Supervisory
Board approved of the results of the audit performed.
The Supervisory Board considered the annual report and the consolidated
financial statement as well as the management reports of artnet AG. The Super-
visory Board raised no objections after completing this examination.
The Supervisory Board has approved the annual report as compiled by the
Board of Directors for artnet AG in the version audited by Ebner, Stolz, Mön-
ning GmbH, Hamburg on March 27, 2007 by resolution. The annual report dated
31 December 2006 has thereby been adopted. The consolidated financial sta-
tements dated 31 December 2006 were also approved by the Supervi-sory
Board.
The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Board of Directors and the entire
staff for work performed in the past year.

Naples, March 27, 2007

John Hushon
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Company Background

Company Background

artnet.com AG was incorporated under the laws of Ger-

many in 1998. In 1999 Management took the company

public on the Neuer Markt of the Frankfurt Stock Exchan-

ge. In 2002 artnet.com AG changed its name to artnet

AG. Its principal holding is its wholly owned subsidiary,

Artnet Worldwide Corp., a New York corporation that

was founded in 1989. On October 4, 2002, artnet AG left

the Neuer Markt and was then listed in the General Stan-

dard at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, a segment of the

EU-regulated Geregelter Markt. Effective February 1,

2007, artnet AG is now listed in the Prime Standard of

the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in

accordance with the International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRSs).
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1. Supervisory board 

artnet operates according to a bipartite management and control structure,
which is comprised of a chief executive officer and a three-man supervisory
board. Executive body and supervisory body are strictly separated within the
dual management system. It is not legally permissible to serve on the supervi-
sory board and the board of directors simultaneously. The relevant legal regu-
lations clearly stipulate the discrete duties and responsibilities of these two
bodies. 
The supervisory board oversees and advises the board of directors during the
latter’s management of the Company’s business affairs. The supervisory board
discusses both business developments and plans and company strategy and its
implementation at regular intervals. Moreover, the supervisory board is charged
with approving the annual financial statements and with appointing the mem-
bers of the board of directors. The supervisory board has agreed on a reserva-
tion of consent in its favor, which it may exercise in cases of business affairs of
fundamental internal import. These may include decisions or measures which
would have a significant effect on, or result in radical changes to the Compa-
ny’s asset-related or financial status or its profit situation. The board of direc-
tors is obliged to inform the supervisory board of all relevant issues regarding
planning, business development, risk status and risk management on a regu-
lar basis and in a timely and comprehensive manner. 
The members of the supervisory board are entitled to make decisions in an
autonomous manner, and are not bound by requirements or instructions issued
by third parties. Moreover, consultancy and service contracts and a number of
other specific contracts agreed between artnet and the members of its super-
visory board must be approved by the supervisory board in advance. 

2. Board of directors 

The board of directors bears the sole responsibility for the management of the
Company. It is thereby bound to the company interests and obliged to do all in
its power to increase the company value on a long-term basis. It is responsible
for the Company’s strategic orientation in consultation with the supervisory
board. The board of directors collaborates closely with the supervisory board. 
The board of directors shall ensure that the applicable legal regulations are
complied with and that the Company applies the appropriate risk management
and risk controlling strategies in all its operations. 

artnet places great value on corporate governance. art-

net AG complies with the recommendations of the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code as published in its cur-

rent version dated June 2006, with the exception of the

recommendations included in figure 3.8, paragraph 2,

sections 4.2.1, 4.2.3, 5.1.2 and paragraph 2, sentence 3,

sections 5.1.3, 5.3.1, 5.3.2 and 5.4.7. The board of direc-

tors and the supervisory board at artnet AG have adopt-

ed the code’s statement of compliance included at the

end of this report. This is published on the Company’s

internet site at www.artnet.de. 

Corporate 
Governance 
Report

Trading day Name Position Designation ISIN Transaction No. of units Market value  
Security type

24.07.2006 Galerie Board of 5.450 sharesDE 0006909500 purchase 5.450 7,68
Neuendorf directors
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5. Shareholder relations 

artnet AG is obliged to inform its shareholders of relevant business develop-
ments and of affiliated companies’ asset-related or financial status and their
profit situations four times during each fiscal year. The annual ordinary gener-
al meeting shall take place within the first eight months of any one fiscal year.
The annual general meeting shall take a series of decisions, including those per-
taining to the profit appropriation, acceptance of reports by the board of direc-
tors and the supervisory board and the selection of the auditor of the annual
accounts. Amendments to the company statutes and measures involving capi-
tal amendments may only be decided at the annual general meeting. 

6. Statement of compliance regarding the German Corporate Governance Code 

The board of directors and the supervisory board adopted the following state-
ment in accordance with § 161 of the Federal Company Law during their meet-
ing on December 18 2006: 
The board of directors and the supervisory board of the artnet AG herewith declare
the following in accordance with § 161 of the Federal Company Law, – that the
recommendations issued by the government commission entitled the “German
Corporate Governance Code“ and dated June 12 2006 – published in the elec-
tronic version of the Federal Gazette on July 24 2006 – have been complied with
in all essential aspects. The following recommendations shall not be applied: 
1. Figure 3.8, para. 2 “In the event that the company has effected a D&O insur-
ance policy on behalf of the board of directors and the supervisory board, an
adequate excess should be agreed.” 
In principle, artnet AG is not of the opinion that the existing care and sense of
responsibility exercised by the members of the board of directors and the super-
visory board during the execution of their duties could be increased by the agree-
ment of an excess of this nature. Therefore artnet AG does not intend to make
any amendments to the existing D&O insurance policies, which do not make pro-
vision for any excess of this kind at the present time. 
2. Figure 4.2.1 “The board of directors should comprise several individuals
and be led by a chairman. Collaborative activities and the allocation of duties
within the board of directors should be agreed in accordance with a set of
rules of internal procedure.” 
The board of directors at artnet AG has comprised a single individual since the
Company’s foundation. However, the board of the Company’s subsidiary, Art-
Net Worldwide Corp. in New York, which is responsible for the group’s opera-
tive business, comprises several individuals. The Company sees no reason to
expand its board of directors in view of the relatively low level of management
activity at artnet AG and in order to avoid unnecessary costs. The need for a set
of rules of internal procedure is dispensed with as a result. 

3. Share transaction and shareholding within the board of directors and the supervisory board

The following purchases and sales exceeding EUR 5,000.00 per calendar year
were made by members of the board of directors and the Company’s supervi-
sory board or other individuals in management positions with regular access
to inside information relating to the Company and who are authorized to take
significant corporate decisions, in addition to certain individuals linked closely
to the latter, during the course of the last fiscal year. 
The board of directors and the supervisory board hold a total of 2,192,801, or
38.94 % of the shares in the Company or the related financial instruments: 

Board of directors: 
Galerie Neuendorf AG 1,461,635 shares

Supervisory board:
John Hushon 54,054 shares
Klaus Jochen Schaeffer 64,000 shares
Schaeffer-Immobilien 600,000 shares

4. Share option program 

The Company’s share option program of 1999 is comprised of 435,000 equity
shares with a calculated par value of EUR 1.00. Up to 285,000 of these shares
are available to be issued as options to the Company’s employees and its affil-
iated companies, while up to 150,000 shares are available to be issued as 
buying options to the members of the Company’s executive body and any affil-
iated companies. Share options have only been granted to the company man-
agement and employees of the subsidiary Artnet Corp. since 1999. 
The preferential price for all options granted prior to the initial public offer is
commensurate with either the average stock market valuation price on the last
ten trading days preceding the day on which the options were granted, or an
amount of EUR 6.72 per share, whereby the preferential price shall be deemed
the lower of the two values in each case. The options may not be exercised for
a period of two years, may be earned after the two year holding period has
expired, may be exercised in four equal annual instalments and shall expire ten
years after they have been granted. The program also anticipates that a buying
option may only be exercised in the event that the market closing rate record-
ed before the day on which the option is due to be exercised exceeds the pref-
erential price by a minimum of ten per cent. Moreover, the options shall expire
within a 90-day limit in the event that the owner of the options leaves the Com-
pany before the options become non-forfeitable. 

0 6
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ed via the new law pertaining to the disclosure of the level of remuneration paid
to the board of directors (VorstOG). We would therefore like to draw attention
to this information. 

a) Remuneration received by the board of directors 
The supervisory board is responsible for deciding on the level of remuneration
received by the board of directors. 
The regulation of the level of remuneration received by the board of directors
at artnet AG is dependent on the size and activity of the company, its econom-
ic and financial situation and the level and structure of the remuneration received
by boards of directors in similar domestic and international companies. The
remuneration is calculated in such a way that it is both deemed a competitive
rate for highly-qualified executives in terms of the international market and
motivates the recipients to perform highly. 
The remuneration received by the board of directors is achievement-orientat-
ed. During the financial year 2006, it constituted a fixed salary and a variable
bonus. 
The level of remuneration received by the board of directors is thus composed
of the following significant components: 
The fixed remuneration is paid on a monthly basis in salary form. 
The variable annual bonus is set at 3.375% of the corporate group profit, amount-
ing to a minimum of EUR 30,000.00 per annum. For the purposes of this calcu-
lation, the corporate group profit does not include the remuneration received
by the board of directors and the non-cash expenses such as share options,
deferred taxes and depreciation/amortization. 
Chief executive officer Hans Neuendorf thus received a fixed cash remunera-
tion of EUR 250,000.00 (EUR 258,200 including private car usage) and a vari-
able remunerative sum of EUR 64,400 for the 2006 fiscal year, resulting in a total
of EUR 322,600. 
artnet AG provides Mr. Neuendorf with an upper middle class company vehicle
which may also be driven privately. Mr. Neuendorf is responsible for paying
income tax on the monetary benefits resulting from his use of this vehicle. 
Moreover, a Split-Dollar Life Insurance policy amounting to 3 million US dol-
lars with the Mass Mutual Insurance Company for the benefit of Mrs. Caroline
Neuendorf, the spouse of Mr. Neuendorf, is entered with the company sub-
sidiary Artnet Corp. 
Artnet Corp. pays the monthly insurance premiums amounting to 4,220.90 US
dollars and records these as a non-current loan receivable due from Mr. Neuen-
dorf. We would hereby like to refer to the report included in the explanatory
notes to the consolidated financial statement. In the event that the employment
relationship is terminated prematurely, the management contract does not con-
tain any express indemnity settlement. However, a settlement may result from
a termination agreement made on an individual basis. 

3. Figure 5.1.2, para. 2, sentence 3 “An age limit for members of the board
of directors should be agreed.” 
artnet AG does not consider a regulation of this type to be appropriate, as the
imposition of blanket age limits in relation to the choice of members for the board
of directors and the supervisory board would restrict the decision-making auton-
omy of shareholders and the supervisory board in an unreasonable manner. 
Figure 5.1.3 “The supervisory board should draw up a set of rules of  inter-
nal procedure.” 
The supervisory board at artnet AG comprises only three members. Collabora-
tive experience has shown that a set of rules of internal procedure is unneces-
sary. 
5. Figures 5.3.1 and 5.3.2: In these figures, the Code recommends that the
supervisory body forms committees and an audit committee. 
As the supervisory board at artnet AG comprises only three members, the for-
mation of committees is not deemed appropriate. The supervisory board under-
takes to carry out the audit committee’s tasks in a collective manner. 
6. Figure 5.4.7: “The members of the supervisory board should receive both
a fixed salary and a performance-based salary.” 
The artnet AG company statutes have not made provision for a performance-
based salary for members of the supervisory board until now. The board of
directors and the supervisory board intend to submit a resolution proposal to
the upcoming annual general meeting in this regard. 
– that the recommendations issued by the government commission entitled the
“German Corporate Governance Code“ and dated June 2 2005 – published in
the electronic version of the Federal Gazette on July 20 2005 and amended on
July 21 2005 – have been complied with in all their essential aspects since the
last statement of compliance dated December 22 2005. Recommendations in
figures 2.3.1 3.8 para. 2, 3.10, 4.2.1, 5.1.2 para. 2, sentence 3, 5.1.3, 5.3.1, 5.3.2
and 5.4.7 were not applied. 

7. Remuneration report 

As an element of the Corporate Governance report, the remuneration report
summarizes the principles applied when agreeing upon the nature of the remu-
neration received by the board of directors at artnet AG, and also explains the
level and structure of the income received by the board of directors. Moreover,
the principles and level of remuneration received by the supervisory board are
also described. 
The remuneration report is based on recommendations issued by the German
Corporate Governance Code and contains information which forms an element
of the appendix in accordance with § 314 of the German Commercial Code or
of the annual report in accordance with § 315 of the German Commercial Code,
this in accordance with the requirements of German commercial law, and extend-
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b) Remuneration received by the supervisory board 
The level of remuneration received by the supervisory board was established
by the annual general meeting at the proposal of the board of directors and the
supervisory board. This is regulated in the company statutes. 
The level of remuneration received by the supervisory board is dependent on
the size of the company, the remit and responsibility of its members and on the
company’s economic situation and its performance. 
Members of the supervisory board receive a fixed annual salary. Individually, the
Chairman of the supervisory board receives EUR 15,000.00, the Vice Chairman
receives EUR 11,250.00 and the third member of the board receives EUR 7,500.00
per annum. 

Berlin, March 27, 2007

artnet AG 
The board of directors The supervisory board 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

artnet AG is a holding-company whose shares are listed at the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange. artnet AG’s principal holding is its wholly owned subsidiary, Artnet
Worldwide Corp., a New York corporation founded in 1989. artnet AG (“the
Company”) and Artnet Worldwide Corp. (“Artnet Corp.”, collectively, “the art-
net Group or Group”) operate under the trade name “artnet.”

Artnet Positioning 
artnet provides web-based services to fine art professionals all over the world,
improving industry communications and bringing transparency with up to the
minute pricing information. The vehicles here are two:

(1) The “galleries” network, comprising over 1,600 dealers and 100,000 art-
works in inventory, represents the world’s largest market overview comman-
ding over 1 million unique visitors a month. Dealers routinely sell works adver-
tised on the network, and, just as significantly, they are able to post a “wanted
to buy” to acquire works from other dealers and private collectors. The Gallery
Network has the largest network of galleries currently on the web. The Com-
pany is positioning itself for international expansion into areas such as China
where the art market growth has exceeded the overall average. We have also
made significant inroads in attracting more galleries specializing in decora-
tive arts and in 20th Century design. 

(2) With approximately three million auction records, artnet’s Price Database
is widely subscribed by appraisers, dealers, auctioneers, financiers, and pri-
vate and government (including the IRS and FBI) institutions. But, most impor-
tant, it provides an illustrated “blue book” for private collectors with which
they can appraise the works they own and measure opportunities at auction
or in the dealer market. Dealers and auctioneers, in their turn, use artnet
“comps” (comparables sales from artnet’s Price Database) to sell important
works of art. In fact, the Company is involved in a program with Sotheby’ where
all fine art lots in their New York sales posted on sothebys.com are linked to
a branded artnet “sales history.”  
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The Price Database is the only database providing images of artworks along
with the auction prices. The Company believes the speed and reliability of the
website and the vast amounts of information which have been collected over
the years has created a formidable barrier to competition. Although there are
other Companies offering services similar to artnet, they lag far behind artnet
in terms of information and technology.  

2. ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

Economic Climate
The global economic growth remains positive with a 5.1% increase in 2006
according to the International Monetary Fund. The United States economy as
artnet’s most important market grew by 3.3% in 2006. Moderate consumption
in the United States is expected to play a smaller role in the overall global eco-
nomic growth in the next five to ten years but the outlook for growth remains
positive. Preliminary results for the euro zone were 2.7% in 2006 with an esti-
mated growth of 2.4% in 2007. Germany’s Federal Statistics Office showed the
German economy grew by 2.5% as compared to 0.9% in the prior year. This 
is the fastest growth in the economy since 2000. The general outlook for the 
German economy is positive with growth expected to continue in 2007. 

Environmental Market Background
It is estimated that art prices in the US grew by 21% in 2006. Overall average
prices are above the level they reached during the peak of the art boom in
1989. During the big art auctions of fall 2006, using data from artnet’s Price
Database, the records show that more than 2,800 new auction records were
set in the fine-art auctions of October and November 2006. Of these new records,
72 were over $1 million. In May 2006, 45 of the new record prices were for 
$1 million or more. These records indicate the steady growth of art market
prices are expected to continue in the coming year. 
Additionally, the global spread of broadband access among private households
has enabled users to access our website and services more readily and there-
fore has helped to increase our page views to the website.  

3. BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

In 2006, artnet generated revenues of EUR 8.4 million as compared to EUR 6.5
million in 2005. This is an increase in growth over the previous year of EUR 1.9
million. During the year the Company was able to expand its Gallery Network
in Europe which was one of the strategic goals it had set in 2006. The Gallery
Network revenue increased 27% as compared to the prior year. The Company
also launched the 20th Century design database collection which is available
with the Price Database subscription. This addition to the Price Database, along

with the continued partnership with Sotheby’s and the growth in the art mar-
ket, helped create an increase in Price Database subscriptions of 29%. Addi-
tionally, the Company launched a new product, Market Performance Reports,
which gives artists’ historical auction data in a graph format. 
In terms of monthly page views, the Company has increased its audience from
8.6 million in December 2005 to 12.7 million in December 2006.

artnet Strategic Objectives
The Company plans to improve and expand its services with focus in four
key areas. 
Auction Network
In 2007, artnet plans to launch an on-line auction component to the website
which will allow dealers to post artworks for auction. Buyers will be able to
log in and bid on artworks and buy artwork through the website. 
Website Enhancements 
We are continually searching for ways to enhance the functionality of our web-
site and to offer information about our products in the most efficient way pos-
sible. To that extent, we have retained a design firm to help us evaluate the web-
site and effect positive changes to the site. 
Decorative Arts Database
In 2006, artnet launched the 20th Century design database. In 2007, artnet
plans to produce a separate database for decorative arts such as silver, watch-
es, and porcelain in order to expand our customer base. We believe this rep-
resents a wide market that is currently under serviced. 
International Growth 
In 2006, artnet continued its expansion into Europe. In 2007, the Company looks
to further expand its presence in Europe and also plans to expand into other
regions such as China which are growing at a faster pace than the overall art
market. The international growth will open the website to a larger audience
who are not currently serviced by the Company. 

Research and Development
Artnet’s business is entirely web based and therefore the Company’s website
is the key to its success. Due to our steady growth in customers, the demand
placed on our products and website in regards to reliability and availability are
constantly rising. The Company meets these demands with in-house develop-
ment solutions. Our developers use code based on Microsoft technology which
provides them the ability to adapt current applications to changing customer
requirements.
In 2006, the Company successfully launched two new products, the Market
Performance Reports and 20th Century design database in addition to many
smaller website enhancements which were completed throughout the year. 
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Employees
As of December 31, 2006 the Company had 50 full time employees as compared
to 42 in the prior year. Additionally, the Company had fourteen sales and other
consultants as compared to ten in the prior year and sixteen part-time employ-
ees as compared to six at the end of 2005.

4. RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND NET ASSETS

Results of operations
artnet had a very satisfactory year in 2006. All key financial figures exceeded
the prior year. 
Total revenue grew from EUR 6.5 million to EUR 8.4 million which represents
a 29% growth rate. This was due mainly to strong growth in the Price Data-
base and the Online Gallery Network where we benefited from a growing cus-
tomer base and greater exposure in the market. The Price Database made the
largest contribution to the growth. Subscriptions to the database grew from over
5,000 subscribers in 2005 to over 8,800 subscribers in 2006. During the year
we worked towards our strategic objective of launching the 20th Century design
database which has helped the growth of the Price Database subscriptions as
did the Sotheby’s marketing cooperation and the general growth in the art
market.
Net profit before income taxes grew by 58% in 2006 to EUR 1.9 Mio. in 2006 as
compared with EUR 1.2 Mio. in the previous year. The main reason was the
strong growth in new customers in the Price Database product where the addi-
tional revenue from new customers was not met with an equal increase in cost.
The cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue decreased from 22% in 2005
to 20% in 2006. Due to our strong customer growth in the Gallery Network
there were higher costs associated with sales and marketing expenses repre-
sented by an increase in the percentage of total revenue from 14% in 2005 to
15% in 2006. This resulted mainly from increased commission expenses and
global marketing expenses in order to increase the awareness of the artnet
website. Product development increased as a percentage of revenue from 5%
in 2005 to 7% in 2006. The increase is in line with our strategic objectives to
continue our dedication to enhancing the functionality of the website as well
as bringing new products to market. 
The most important expense category General and Administrative expenses has
high proportion of fixed costs and therefore the increase of this expense cat-
egory by 10 % from EUR 2.7 Mio. in 2005 to EUR 3.0 in 2006 was considerably
lower than our revenue growth. This category principally includes executive
and administrative salaries, professional fees, compliance costs, bad debt
expense, communications costs including Internet access, and premises and
facilities costs. 
Net profit in 2006 amounted to EUR 2.5 Mio. It more than doubled in compar-

ison with the prior year because it is influenced by a significant one-time effect
in the form of the recognition of a deferred tax asset in the amount of EUR 0.7
Mio. for the expected future benefits from the tax loss carryforwards of Artnet
Corp.

Dividend and income taxes
The considerable income tax benefit of EUR 607,900 recognized in the income
statement for 2006 is caused by the first-time recognition of a deferred tax
asset for the expected future tax benefits of the substantial tax loss carryfor-
wards of Artnet Corp in the amount of EUR 714,300. 
The subsidiary Artnet Corp. paid artnet AG a dividend in the amount of US$
1,300,000 in 2006 which is eliminated in the consolidation. As a result, artnet
AG recorded taxes related to the dividend in the amount of EUR 49,245 which
are shown in the income tax item on the income statement. The residual income
tax expense is caused by the alternative corporate minimum tax Artnet Corp.
has to pay in the USA despite its tax loss carryforwards.

Currency translation 
Currency translation in the statement of operations is based on the average
exchange rate for the period ending December 31, 2006 and 2005, respective-
ly. For 2006, the average rate was 0.797 euros/dollar as compared to 0.805
euros/dollar in 2005. This represented a 1% change in the average currency
rate. Currency translation for the balance sheet is based on the exchange rate
at the end of the period. As of December 31, 2006, the rate was 0.758 euros/dol-
lar as compared to 0.8444 at December 31, 2005, thus representing an exchange
differential of 10%. artnet is subject to exchange rate fluctuations as it invoic-
es in Euros, Dollars and British Pounds but conducts most of its business in
the United States. The Company works to reduce its exposure to exchange rate
differences by collecting payments from European customers in Euros or local
currency and paying vendors throughout Europe with these cash funds in the
same currency. 

Cash flow and Capital Expenditures
Artnet’s profitability is reflected in its cash flow from operating activity which
grew to EUR 1,967 million as compared to EUR 1,176 in the prior year due to
the strong growth of our operating profit. Because the deferred tax asset has
no cash relevance, the accounts receivables increased compared with the pre-
vious year end and we made some significant prepayments and reduced
accounts payable and provisions, the growth of the operating cash flow was 
67 %. It was lower than the rise of the net profit because the cash flow from
investing activities of EUR 250.320 in 2006 shows our continued commitment
to invest in the enhancement of our website as well as in capital expenditures
which continued commitment to invest in the enhancement of our website as
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well as capital expenditures which continue to maintain our current infrastruc-
ture.
The cash flows used for financing activities represented loan payments to
shareholders. The outstanding amount of the loan as of December 31, 2006 was
EUR 25,653 (prior year EUR 138,661) and is anticipated to be paid in full in the
first quarter of 2007.

Asset position
The balance sheet total amounted to EUR 4,684,000 at December 31, 2006 as
compared to EUR 2,264,000 at December 31, 2005, an increase by 107 %. 
Bank balances increased as direct result of the growth in operating profit in
2006. Bank balances were EUR 2,434,000 at the end of 2006 up from EUR
992,000 as of December 31, 2005. The investment policy for the Company is
conservative. Accordingly, the cash is invested nightly in an overnight sweep
account which is re-deposited every morning. This keeps all cash liquid for the
Company. Based on the average outstanding shares of 5,552,986, liquidity per
share amounted to EUR 0.44 in 2006 as compared to 0.18 in 2005.
Trade accounts receivable increased from EUR 535,000 to EUR 692,000 due
mainly to the increase in sales. 
The level of current liabilities remained fairly consistent in 2005 and 2006 with
an amount of EUR 2.2 to 2.3 Mio. The primary changes in the amount result-
ed from an increase in deferred revenue as a result of sales growth and high-
er accrued expenses offset by the repayment of shareholder loans and the
reduction of accounts payable.
The artnet Group currently finances all projects on an internal basis. The group
companies hold no commitments from banks as of December 31, 2006.
Artnet Group’s consolidated equity reached EUR 2,432,000 at the end of 2006
as compared to only EUR 104,000 in 2005. The considerable growth is a direct
result of the high net profit in 2006.
artnet’s Price Database is an intangible asset that has been built through the
process of gathering auction information throughout the last ten years. This is
a substantial asset to the Group; however, it may not be recognized on the bal-
ance sheet as an intangible asset because of the accounting rules. artnet
believes if it were an intangible asset on the balance sheet, it would signifi-
cantly increase the assets.

5. Reporting in accordance with § 315, para. 4 of the German Commercial Code (“Statements
in accordance with the Federal Takeover Act”) 

Subscribed capital 
The fully paid equity capital of artnet AG amounted to EUR 5,631,067 at Decem-
ber 31, 2006 and is divided into 5,631,067 no-par individual share certificates
with a calculated value of EUR 1.00 each. 

Voting limits or assignment limits 
Voting limits or limits regarding the assignment of these shares do not exist. 

Direct or indirect holdings 
Holdings which exceed 10% of the voting rights in artnet AG are held by 
Galerie Neuendorf AG, Berlin, with 25.96 % 
Schaeffer Immobilien GmbH, Hamburg, with 11.79 % 
Artis Capital Management LLC, San Francisco/USA, with 10,39 % 

Shareholders with privileges 
There are no shareholders with privileges. 

Voting rights monitoring in the event of employee holdings 
Any employees with holdings in artnet AG are obliged to exercise their control
rights in a direct manner. 

Legal regulations and statute provisions regarding the nomination and dis-
missal of members of the board of directors pp. 
Members of the board of directors are nominated and dismissed in accordance
with §§ 84, 85 of the Federal Company Law. Statutory amendments shall be
made in accordance with §§ 133, 179 of the Federal Company Law. 

Board of director entitlement to issue and repurchase shares 
The board of directors is authorized to increase the Company’s registered cap-
ital until July 5 2009 with the agreement of the supervisory board once or sev-
eral times to a total of EUR 2,800,000 by issuing new no-par shares made out
to the holders in return for cash and / or non-cash capital contributions with
profit adjustment from the beginning of the current fiscal year in question
(Approved Capital). 
The Company’s registered capital may be increased by up to EUR 435,000 via
the issue of up to 285,000 new no-par shares made out to the holders to the
Company’s employees or other affiliated companies, and up to 150,000 new no-
par shares made out to the holders to the members of the Company’s man-
aging body or an affiliated company. The conditional capital increase serves to
grant buying options to the aforementioned individuals. The board of directors
and the supervisory board are authorized to distribute the buying options in the
form of chartered option certificates within ten years from the entry of the con-
ditional capital increase. 
By resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on July 11, 2005, the
Executive Board was authorized to acquire, on or before January 11, 2007,
shares of artnet AG on the condition that such share purchases do not account
for more than 10 % of the Company’s common stock.
No further contributory facts are currently available. 
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6. Essential features of the remuneration received by the executive board and the super-
visory board

Executive board
The supervisory board is responsible for deciding on the level of remuneration
received by the board of directors. 
The regulation of the level of remuneration received by the board of directors
at artnet AG is dependent on the size and activity of the Company, its econom-
ic and financial situation and the level and structure of the remuneration
received by boards of directors in similar domestic and international compa-
nies. The remuneration is calculated in such a way that it is both deemed a com-
petitive rate for highly-qualified executives in terms of the international mar-
ket and motivates the recipients to perform highly. 
The remuneration received by the board of directors is achievement-orientat-
ed. During the financial year 2006, it constituted a fixed salary and a variable
bonus. 
The level of remuneration received by the board of directors is thus composed
of the following significant components: 
The fixed remuneration is paid on a monthly basis in salary form. 
The variable annual bonus is set at 3.375% of the corporate group profit, amount-
ing to a minimum of EUR 30,000.00 per annum. For the purposes of this cal-
culation, the corporate group profit does not include the remuneration received
by the board of directors and the non-cash expenses such as share options and
deductions. 
Chief executive officer Hans Neuendorf thus received a fixed cash remunera-
tion of EUR 250,000.00 (EUR 258,200 including private car usage)and a vari-
able remunerative sum of EUR 64,400 for the 2006 fiscal year, resulting in a
total of EUR 322,600. 
artnet AG provides Mr. Neuendorf with an upper middle class Company vehi-
cle which may also be driven privately. Mr. Neuendorf is responsible for pay-
ing income tax on the monetary benefits resulting from his use of this vehicle. 
Moreover, a Split-Dollar Life Insurance policy amounting to 3 million US dol-
lars with the Mass Mutual Insurance Company for the benefit of Mrs. Caroline
Neuendorf, the spouse of Mr. Neuendorf, is entered with the Company subsidiary
Artnet Corp. Artnet Corp. pays the monthly insurance premiums amounting to
4,220.90 US dollars and records these as a non-current loan receivable due from
Mr. Neuendorf. Please refer to note 25 in the consolidated financial statements
for further explanation. 
In the event that the employment relationship is terminated prematurely, the
management contract does not contain any express indemnity settlement.
However, a settlement may result from a termination agreement made on an
individual basis.

Supervisory board
The level of remuneration received by the supervisory board was established
by the annual general meeting at the proposal of the board of directors and
the supervisory board. This is regulated in the company statutes. 
The level of remuneration received by the supervisory board is dependent on
the size of the company, the remit and responsibility of its members and on
the company’s economic situation and its performance. 
Members of the supervisory board receive a fixed annual salary. Individually,
the Chairman of the supervisory board receives EUR 15,000.00, the Vice Chair-
man receives EUR 11,250.00 and the third member of the board receives EUR
7,500.00 per annum. 

7. RISK REPORT
Due to artnet Group’s relatively small size and managements’ involvement in
all material transactions, the Group does not have a formal risk management
system. artnet is however, cognizant of risk and meets regularly regarding the
risks which affect its business. We have identified the following key risks and
uncertainties which artnet is exposed to. 

External Risks
Art Market environment 
Artnet is subject to changes in the art market. The art market for the past few
years has been steadily increasing. The art market is not a stable environment,
however, and therefore could decrease in the future. If the art market were to
decrease, artnet would be significantly impacted as most clients and sub-
scribers are on a monthly contract basis. 

Internet Usage 
The internet business is still relatively new. Security concerns about fraud, pri-
vacy, and other problems may negatively impact the amount of customers who
are willing to buy our product on the internet. At the current time, there is no
indication that a decrease in internet usage is likely.

Operating risks
Software system infrastructure 
Any interruption in the availability of the website reduces the artnet’s current
revenues and profits, and could harm future revenues and profits. Frequent or
persistent interruptions in service could cause current or potential users to
believe that the Group’s systems are unreliable, leading them to avoid the site,
and could permanently harm the artnet’s reputation. These interruptions
increase the burden on the IT Department, which, in turn, could delay the intro-
duction of new features and services. Although the Group’s systems have been
designed to reduce downtime in the event of outages or catastrophic occur-
rences, they remain vulnerable to damage or interruption from floods, fires,
power loss, telecommunication failures, terrorist attacks, computer viruses,
and other similar events. artnet’s website servers are currently located in a
secured facility. The facility provides redundant servers in an offsite location
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that serve as a back up to the main facility. The redundant servers are meant
to ensure minimal downtime in case of fire, flood or other disaster that may
happen to the main facility. 

Marketing
artnet’s historical growth has been largely attributable to word of mouth in the
art community. The Company believes that continuing to strengthen the art-
net brand will be critical to achieving widespread acceptance of the website,
and will require an increased focus on marketing efforts. The Group will need
to spend increasing amounts of money on advertising, marketing, and other
efforts to create and maintain brand loyalty. In 2006, the Company has increased
its marketing campaigns and plans to continue to increase marketing costs in
the future. 

Product Development
artnet’s future success will depend on the Group’s ability to adapt to rapidly
changing technologies and evolving industry standards and to improve the per-
formance, features, and reliability of the website as well as launch new prod-
ucts which are beneficial to artnet’s current and potential customers. Artnet
attempts to minimize such risks by observing market trends and continuing
to invest in product development.

Legal Risks
Trademark Rights
The Company attempts to protect itself through the trademark of the artnet
name. Trademark infringement lawsuits are costly to artnet and are subject
to reviews from national authorities which could result in a negative outcome
for the Company. 

Protection of Customer Data 
artnet stores customer data in compliance with all current laws and regula-
tions. However, if a third party were to succeed in bypassing artnet’s security
measures and obtain customer information, artnet could be liable for any dam-
ages incurred. 

Financial Risks
Foreign Currency Fluctuations
Because the artnet Group conducts a portion of the business outside the Unit-
ed States, the group companies faces exposure to adverse movements in cur-
rency exchange rates. As exchange rates vary, net sales and other operating
results, when translated, may differ materially from expectations. artnet does
not currently hedge against such currency risks; however, the group compa-
nies accept payments from clients in Euros and pay vendors using Euros which

helps to reduce the foreign currency exchange risk. 
With the exception of adverse currency fluctuations the artnet Group current-
ly faces no other significant financial risks. 
The artnet companies have no significant concentration of credit risk, because
the exposure is spread over a large number of customers comprised of indi-
viduals and entities dealing in the fine art market. 
As the group companies have no significant financial liabilities the Group faces
no material liquidity risk and interest risk.
In the business years presented because of the relatively small financial risks
the artnet group has not used any derivative financial instruments to further
hedge or control these risks. 

Other Risks
Key Employees
The market for skilled and motivated managers is highly competitive. Due to
Company’s relatively small size, a loss of a key employee could have a nega-
tive impact on the Company. The Company counters such personnel risks by
offering a stock option incentive plan to its key employees. 

8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

artnet AG has received the admission to the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange. The shares of artnet are traded in the Prime Standard since
February 1, 2007.
No other reportable events of significant importance have occurred after the
balance sheet date.
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06Outlook

There were only between 30 and 35 important art deal-
ers in New York forty years ago, while today this figure
has swelled to between 600 and 700. The number of
American artists escalated during the post-war years.
Meanwhile, approx. 40,000 artists graduate from uni-
versities and colleges annually in New York alone. The
number of new media forms also experienced a boom.
More and more photographers and illustrators satiated
the glut of newspapers and magazines. Prints and edi-
tions sprouted like weeds. Artists began to work in all
conceivable media – both old and new. Today, there is
more art than ever before. In future, art as an “alter-
native investment” will be able to serve the financial
world even further.

Prospects for economic growth appear to be reasonable for 2007. The Euro
zone is expected to increase by 2.4% and the German and United States
economies are expected to continue in growth in the coming years as well. The
art market is also expected to continue in strength in 2007 which we believe
will have a direct positive impact on artnet. 
The online auctions platform is a new product that we will be launching in
2007. We believe this product will change the way art is bought and sold on the
internet. We do not expect a profit from this product until the end of 2008.
Additionally, artnet will re-launch the website in 2007 which will provide users
with easier access to all products and features on the website.
In terms of revenue growth, artnet will continue to follow its growth strategy
by concentrating on international expansion for its gallery network. We believe
we will have dynamic growth in this area by offering our product to galleries
that are unfamiliar with the benefits of artnet. 
We also believe that our new Decorative arts Database, along with expansion
of the Sotheby’s marketing cooperation into the European market and contin-
ued growth in the art market, will bring additional subscriptions to the Price
Database product and continue the increase in sales. 
For fiscal year 2007, our outlook is optimistic in regards to revenue. We believe
we will have continued growth in the Gallery Network and Price Database prod-
ucts. Our target is to achieve 25% growth a year in each of these products over
the next two years. We plan to invest heavily in our new product developments
especially where the online auction platform and website re-launch are con-
cerned. We believe these investments may cause our profit as a percentage of
revenue to decrease slightly in 2007 but rebound in 2008.  

Berlin, March 27, 2007

The CEO
Hans Neuendorf
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artnet AG CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
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artnet AG CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005

31.12.2005 31.12.2005 31.12.2006 31.12.2005
Note USD USD EUR EUR

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 3 3.211.637 1.175.379 2.434.421 992.490 
Accounts receivable-net 4 912.604 634.132 691.754 535.461 
Prepaids and other current assets 5 324.000 115.358 245.592 97.408 
Total current assets 4.448.241 1.924.869 3.371.767 1.625.359 

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Property and Equipment 6 234.979 218.561 178.114 184.553 
Intangible assets 7 198.833 136.998 150.715 115.681 
Security deposit 143.409 185.202 108.704 156.385
Due from shareholder 25 258.086 215.249 195.629 181.756
Deferred tax asset 8 896.192 – 679.314 –

Total noncurrent assets 1.731.499 756.010 1.312.476 638.375

TOTAL ASSETS 21 6.179.740        2.680.879 4.684.243 2.263.734 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 9 435.368 582.818 330.009 492.132 
Accrued expenses 11 810.075 492.474 614.037 415.845 
Provisions 10 139.464 185.000 105.714 156.214 
Current income tax liabilities 8 104.974 44.620 79.570 37.677 
Due to shareholder 25 33.843 164.212 25.653 138.661 
Deferred revenue 12 1.447.589 1.088.754 1.097.272 919.344 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2.971.313 2.557.878 2.252.255 2.159.873 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock 13 5.941.512 5.941.512 5.631.067 5.631.067 
Treasury stock 13 (269.241) (269.241) (264.425) (264.425)
Additional paid-in capital 51.392.016 51.334.420 50.240.899 50.194.993 
Accumulated deficit (56.875.538) (58.306.652) (55.451.948) (56.603.322)
Current net profit 3.123.397 1.431.114 2.489.440 1.151.374 
Foreign currency translation adjustment (103.719) (8.152) (213.045) (5.826)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 3.208.427 123.001 2.431.988 103.861 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 6.179.740 2.680.879 4.684.243 2.263.734 

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31.12.2006 31.12.2005 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Note USD USD EUR EUR
Revenue
Online Gallery Network 4.717.405 3.683.878 3.759.913 2.963.790 
Price Database 4.191.827 3.221.681 3.341.012 2.591.939 
Advertising 1.365.864 1.084.016 1.088.635 872.123 
Other Products 283.713 100.700 226.128 81.016 
Total revenue 21 10.558.809 8.090.275 8.415.688 6.508.868 
Cost of Net Revenues 18 2.156.165 1.798.206 1.718.528 1.446.710 
Profit from operations 8.402.644 6.292.069 6.697.160 5.062.158 

Other operating expenses
Selling and Marketing 1.626.410 1.148.361 1.296.298 923.891 
General and Administrative 3.713.280 3.357.690 2.959.596 2.701.362 
Product Development 708.436 392.038 564.645 315.406 
Non-cash Compensationn 15 57.596 17.923 45.906 14.420 
Total other operating expenses 6.105.722 4.916.012 4.866.445 3.955.079 

Profit from operations 2.296.922 1.376.057 1.830.715 1.107.079 

Interest Expense (9.366) (37.411) (7.465) (30.098)
Interest Income 56.061 – 44.682 –
Other Income 17.099 137.088 13.628 110.291 

Profit before income Taxes 2.360.716 1.475.734 1.881.560 1.187.272 
Income Taxes 2,8,26 762.681 (44.620) 607.880 (35.898)

Net Profit 3.123.397 1.431.114 2.489.440 1.151.374 

Earnings Per Share
Net Profit per basic share 17 0,56 0,26 0,45 0,21 
Net Profit per diluted share 17 0,55 0,25 0,44 0,20 

Weighted Average Shares
Basic 5.552.986 5.552.986 5.552.986 5.552.986 
Diluted 5.702.986 5.658.986 5.702.986 5.658.986 
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Shares Issued Amount Additional Paid-in Capital Treasury Stock Accumulated Deficit Foreign Currency Translation Total

BALANCE – DECEMBER 31, 2004 5.631.067 5.941.512 51.316.497 (269.241) (58.306.652) (120.978) (1.438.862)

Net Profit 1.431.114 1.431.114 
Foreign Currency Translation 112.826 112.826 
Non-cash Compensation 17.923 17.923   

BALANCE – DECEMBER 31, 2005 5.631.067 5.941.512 51.334.420 (269.241) (56.875.538) (8.152) 123.001 

Net Profit 3.123.397 3.123.397 
Foreign Currency Translation (95.567) (95.567)
Non-cash Compensation 57.596 57.596 

BALANCE – DECEMBER 31, 2006 5.631.067 5.941.512 51.392.016 (269.241) (53.752.141) (103.719) 3.208.427 

Common Stock

artnet AG
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (USD)
For the Periods Ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005

artnet AG
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (EUR)
For the Periods Ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005

Shares Issued Amount Additional Paid-in Capital Treasury Stock Accumulated Deficit Foreign Currency Translation Total

BALANCE – DECEMBER 31, 2004 5.631.067 5.631.067 50.180.573 (264.425) (56.603.322) (252) (1.056.359)

Net Profit 1.151.374 1.151.374 
Foreign Currency Translation (5.574) (5.574)
Non-cash Compensation 14.420 14.420

BALANCE – December 31, 2005 5.631.067 5.631.067 50.194.993 (264.425) (55.451.948) (5.826) 103.861 

Net Profit 2.489.440 2.489.440 
Foreign Currency Translation (207.219) (207.219)
Non-cash Compensation 45.906 45.906 

BALANCE – December 31, 2006 5.631.067 5.631.067 50.240.899 (264.425) (52.962.508) (213.045) 2.431.988 

Common Stock 

Consolidated Financial Statements (IRFS) 53
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Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31.12.2006 31.12.2005 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Note USD USD EUR EUR
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit 3.123.397 1.431.114 2.489.440 1.151.374 

Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 6,7,21 195.074 144.327 155.480 116.115 
Provision for doubtful accounts 4 64.431 73.346 51.353 59.009 
Deferred income taxes 8 (896.192) – (679.314) – 
Non-cash compensation 15 57.596 17.923 45.906 14.420 
Income tax payments 8 (44.620) – (37.677) –
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 4 (342.903) (9.344) (207.646) (81.928)
Prepaid and other current assets 5 (208.642) (10.889) (148.184) (20.712)
Security deposits 41.793 – 47.681 (20.417)
Accounts payable 9 (147.450) (347.820) (143.526) (210.015)
Provisions 10 (45.536) (129.114) (50.500) (103.876)
Accrued expenses and tax liabilities 11 422.575 148.721 277.762 197.874 
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment (110.152) 65.361 (11.399) (72.900)
Deferred Revenue 12 358.835 36.746 177.928 147.001 

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS (655.191) (10.743) (522.136) 24.571 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 23 2.468.206 1.420.371 1.967.304 1.175.945 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment 6,21 (118.413) (171.462) (94.379) (137.946)
Purchase of intangible assets 7,21 (154.914) (101.978) (123.471) (82.044)
Receivables from shareholder, advance 25 (42.837) (43.738) (32.470) (36.932)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES 23 (316.164) (317.178) (250.320) (256.922)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loan Payments to Shareholders 25 (130.369) (313.154) (113.008) (251.913)

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES 23 (130.369) (313.154) (113.008) (251.913)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 14.585 (7.170) (162.045) 37.215 

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2.036.258 782.869 1.441.931 704.325 

CASH – Beginning 1.175.379 392.510 992.490 288.165 

CASH – Ending 3 3.211.637 1.175.379 2.434.421 992.490 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES 
OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paid (9.366) (37.411) (7.465) (30.098)
Interest received 56.061 – 44.682 –

artnet AG CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statement 2006 
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Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear inter-
est.  Included in accounts receivable are unbilled receivables related to longer-
term contracts of more than three months in duration. These unbilled receiv-
ables are offset in the liability account, “Deferred Revenue”. In addition, when
customers pay for their account using their credit card, there is a clearing peri-
od before the cash is received by the group companies, usually two or three
days. Hence, these funds are treated as a receivable until the cash is settled. 
The allowance for doubtful accounts is the artnet Group’s best estimate of the
amount of probable credit losses in the Group’s existing accounts receivable.
In determining the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts, manage-
ment considers a number of factors including the aging of the receivable port-
folio as well as customer payment trends. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are valued at historical cost less accumulated depre-
ciation. The artnet Group computes depreciation and amortization using the
straight-line method. Computer equipment, furniture and fixtures, and office
equipment are depreciated over an estimated life of three to seven years. Lease-
hold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the term of the related
lease or its estimated useful life. Maintenance expenses that neither enhance
the value of an asset nor prolong the useful life are expensed as incurred. 

Intangible assets including website development costs
Intangible assets are comprised of purchased software and website develop-
ment costs. Intangible assets are recorded at historical cost and amortized on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of three years. 
Costs related to the research, planning and post implementation phases of the
Group’s website development efforts are expensed as incurred. Direct costs
incurred in the development phase are capitalized, if the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible, there is a market for the output of the
website development, the attributable expenditure can be measured reliably,
and the Group has sufficient resources to complete development. These capi-
talized website development costs are amortized over the product’s estimat-
ed useful life of three years. Costs associated with minor enhancements and
maintenance for the website are expensed as incurred in the consolidated
statement of income.

Impairment 
At each balance sheet date, the artnet Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate
cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discount-
ed to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognized as an expense immediately.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
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1 – CORPORATE INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

artnet AG (hereinafter referred to as “artnet AG” or “the Company”) is a pub-
licly traded corporation headquartered in Berlin, Germany. The address of its
registered office is Mauerstraße 83/84, 10117 Berlin. artnet AG was incorpo-
rated under the laws of Germany in 1998.
artnet AG has one wholly owned subsidiary, Artnet Worldwide Corporation,
(“Artnet Corp”) which is located in New York, USA. Together artnet AG and Art-
net Corp. are referred to as the Group or artnet Group.
The Group’s business is to provide art collectors, galleries, publishers, auc-
tion houses and art enthusiasts with a website where individuals can research
artists, view art related news and find artworks that are currently available at
art galleries around the world.  
Applying § 315a of the German Commercial Code (HGB), the consolidated finan-
cial statements for the parent and subsidiary company were prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and its interpre-
tations of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) effective within
the EU.
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the CEO
on March 22, 2007.

2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting and Reporting Currency
Amounts included in the consolidated financial statements and notes to the con-
solidated financial statements are stated as required by German law in Euros
(EUR), unless otherwise noted. The reporting currency is Euro. 
The currency of the primary economic environment in which artnet operates
is US Dollars. For convenience purposes, especially of our US-investors, the
consolidated financial statements are also presented in US-Dollar.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost
basis. The balance sheet date is December 31, 2006. The principal accounting
policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the parent company, artnet AG,
and its wholly owned subsidiary Artnet Corp. Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
On February 23, 1999 artnet AG entered into a transaction with Artnet World-
wide Corporation which was treated as a recapitalization of Artnet Corp., with
Artnet Corp. as the acquirer of artnet AG (reverse acquisition). The Company
accounted for the business combination of artnet AG and Artnet Corp. as a
reverse acquisition in accordance with IFRS 3.
All significant inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue for our services is recognized when services are rendered. Revenue
from upfront fees, where the service has not yet been provided by the artnet
Group, is deferred and recorded as revenue when the Group provides the ser-
vice. These amounts are included in the Group’s deferred revenue on the con-
solidated balance sheet.
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receiv-
able and represents amounts receivable for services provided in the normal
course of business, net of discounts, and other sales related taxes.
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Retirement Benefit Costs
The subsidiary Artnet Corp. has a defined contribution benefit plan, which qual-
ifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Payments by the Com-
pany to the 401(k) plan are charged as an expense.

Share Based Payments
The subsidiary Artnet Corp. has issued stock-options on artnet AG shares to
its management and to certain employees. The stock-options are measured
at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date
is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period based on the esti-
mated amount of shares that will eventually vest. The fair value of the stock-
options is measured using the Black-Scholes-model.
The above policy is applied to all share-based payments that were granted
after 7 November 2002 that vested after January 1, 2005.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the group has a present obligation as a result
of a past event which will result in a probable outflow of economic benefits
that can be reasonably estimated. 

Treasury Stock
Company-held shares are reported at cost in a separate equity line-item. 
Reclassification of items in the consolidated financial statements
In order to apply the cost of sales method for income statement presentation
more consistently, depreciation and amortization was reclassified to the cost
of sales line item on the income statement. In the previous consolidated finan-
cial statement, depreciation and amortization was presented as a separate
item in the income statement. The prior year presentation has been reclassi-
fied to conform to that of the current year. The amounts for depreciation and
amortization are presented in Notes 6, 7 and 18.
In the previous years, accruals and provisions were classified in the same line
item on the balance sheet. Beginning in 2006, the Company has re-classified
these items into separate categories on the balance sheet.
In the cash flow statement the item for the change in foreign currency trans-
lation adjustment was reclassified from financing to operating activities, as it
is more closely related with changes in operating assets and liabilities than
financing activities. The prior year presentation has been reclassified to con-
form to that of the current year.

Adoption of new and revised Standards
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following stan-
dards and Interpretations potentially relevant for artnet were in issue but not
yet effective. An early application is not intended by artnet AG:
IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” – Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January, 1, 2007. This Standard summarizes the infor-
mation on financial instruments previously governed by IAS 30 and IAS 32. In
IFRS 7, individual disclosure requirements were changed or amended. The ini-
tial application will lead to additional disclosures in the Notes.
Amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclo-
sures” – Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January, 1, 2007.
According to the changes made in IAS 1, the financial statements have to include
disclosures enabling the reader of financial statements to evaluate the objec-
tives, methods and processes of capital management. The initial application
will lead to additional disclosures in the Notes.
IFRIC 8 “Scope of IFRS 2” – Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
May 1, 2006. In IFRIC 8, the IASB comments on the scope of IFRS 2 “Share-
based payment” applicable to transactions in which the entity receives goods
or services as consideration for its share-based payments. According to IFRIC

58

have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized immedi-
ately.

Income Taxes
The charge for current tax is based on the results for the year of the indi-
vidual consolidated company as adjusted for items which are non-assess-
able or disallowed. It is calculated using rates that have been enacted by
the balance sheet date. 
Deferred taxes are recognized under the asset and liability method in respect
to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. In principle,
deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differ-
ences and tax loss or tax credit carry-forwards can be utilized. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substan-
tially enacted statutory tax rates for the years in which the differences are
expected to reverse.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suf-
ficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered. 

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
The currency of the primary economic environment in which the artnet Group
operates is US Dollar, which is the functional currency of the operating sub-
sidiary Artnet Worldwide. Transactions in currencies other than US Dollar
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the trans-
actions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the balance sheet date.
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. 
The accumulated gains and losses resulting from translation are recorded
as a separate component of the consolidated equity.
Realized gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are recog-
nized as other income.
The following exchanges rates have been used for the translation of $US to
EUR:

Trade Payables 
Trade payables are not interest bearing. Trade payables and other liabilities
are stated at amortized cost.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases. All lease contracts of the
artnet Group in the reporting periods are classified as operating leases.
Rent payable under operating leases is charged to income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are also spread on a straight line basis over the lease term.

12/31/2006 12/31/2005
Current rate of 1 $US at 0,7580 0,8444
Average rate of 1 $US in 0,7970 0,8045
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6 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Changes in property and equipment in the financial year 2006 were as follows:

7 – INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Changes in the intangible fixed assets in the financial year 2006 were as 
follows:

8 – TAXES AND DEFERRED TAXES 

Income tax expense/(benefit) consists of the following for the years pre-
sented:

The current income taxes relate to the alternative minimum tax (AMT) of Art-
net Corp. for federal and New York state income taxes. Additionally, artnet AG
recognized EUR 49,245 for withholding tax on dividends paid to artnet AG in
2006. The amount was withheld by Artnet Corp. and will be paid to the tax
authorities by Artnet Corp. on behalf of artnet AG.

Computers and Fixtures and Leasehold Total
Equipment Furniture Improvement Costs

EUR EUR EUR EUR
Cost
At December 31, 2005 1.101.823 192.246 52.703 1.346.772 
Exchange differences 29.637 2 1.040 30.679
Additions 55.829 656 37.894 94.379 
At December 31, 2006 1.187.289 192.904 91.637 1.471.830 
Depreciation
At December 31, 2005 1.001.941 127.822 32.456 1.162.219 
Exchange differences 39.566 8.282 2.352 50.200
Charge for the year 61.219 12.378 7.700 81.297 
At December 31, 2006 1.102.726 148.482 42.508 1.293.716 
Net book value
At December 31, 2005 99.882 64.424 20.247 184.553 
At December 31, 2006 84.563 44.422 49.129 178.114 

Website Development  Software Total
Costs Costs Costs 

EUR EUR EUR
Cost
At December 31, 2005 776.934 281.536 1.058.470 
Exchange differences 19.182 9.762 28.944
Additions 118.457 5.014 123.471 
At December 31, 2006 914.573 296.312 1.210.885 
Amortization
At December 31, 2005 666.142 276.647 942.789 
Exchange differences 33.501 9.697 43.198
Charge for the year 69.976 4.207 74.183 
At December 31, 2006 769.619 290.551 1.060.170 
Net book value
At December 31, 2005 110.792 4.889 115.681 
At December 31, 2006 144.954 5.761 150.715 

Year ended 12/31/2006 Year ended 12/31/2005
EUR EUR

Current income taxes
US – federal and state corporation tax     57.140 35.898
US-dividend withholding tax 49.245 0
Total current income taxes 106.385 35.898
Deferred taxes
Artnet Corp. – due to tax loss carryforwards     (714.265) 0
Total income taxes (607.880) 35.898
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8, IFRS 2 has to be applied if the entity can not clearly identify the goods or
services received. The Company believes the adoption of IFRIC 8 in future peri-
ods will have no material financial impact on the consolidated  financial state-
ments.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
IFRS necessitates estimates and assumptions that influence the amounts
shown in the assets and liabilities, the income statement and information in
the notes to the accounts. Actual results and developments may differ from
these estimates and assumptions.
Estimates made by management that have a significant effect on the consol-
idated financial statements include the recognition of deferred tax assets, the
measurement of provisions and  accruals, the useful lives of non-current assets
and the assessment of impairment regarding accounts receivables and deferred
tax assets. 

EXPLANATIONS TO THE BALANCE SHEET

3 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and positive bank balances
held by the consolidated companies. 

4 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Net Accounts Receivable consists of the following (EUR):

All accounts receivable are due within one year of the respective dates. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount
of probable credit losses in the Company’s existing accounts receivable. 
Bad debt expense in 2006 and 2005 amounted to EUR 51,353 and 59,009, respec-
tively.  

5 – PREPAIDS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Other current assets consist primarily of VAT tax refund claims and prepaid
amounts for server-hosting services. 

12/31/2006 12/31/2005 
EUR EUR

Gross Accounts Receivable    768.432 765.283
Less: Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (76.678) (229.822)
Net Accounts Receivable 691.754 535.461
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Artnet Corp. is still facing a prior year payroll tax inquiry from New York State
regarding a refund given to the company in 2001. Artnet Corp. has accrued
EUR 64,430 for expected payments as a result of the inquiry.
The provisions for legal claims and litigation cover the risks of possible legal
claims against Artnet Corp. from prior years.

11 – ACCRUALS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

12 – DEFERRED REVENUE 

Customers pay for certain contracts in advance of the service provided. The pre-
paid amounts are recognized as revenue when artnet provides the service.  

13 – SHARE CAPITAL

artnet AG has one class of ordinary bearer shares which carry no right to fixed
income.

Authorized Capital 
By resolution of the shareholder's meeting held on July 12, 2005, the Execu-
tive Board of artnet AG was authorized, subject to consent of the Supervisory
Board, to increase the capital on or before January 11, 2007, by up to a total
amount of EUR 2,800,000 through the issuance of new common shares up to
2,800,000 in return for contributions in kind or in cash. In 2005 and 2006 no
common shares were issued under this Authorized Capital.

Conditional Capital 
At the artnet AG Shareholders’ Meetings on February 23, 1999, and April 6,
1999, shareholders agreed to create Conditional Capital I to provide for an
employee stock option plan consisting of 435,000 new bearer shares of com-
mon stock with a calculated nominal value of EUR 1.00 each. Of this amount,
up to 285,000 shares are available for the issuance of options to the employ-
ees of the Company and affiliated entities, and up to 150,000 shares are avail-
able for the issue of options to the members of management of the Company
and affiliated entities. 

Treasury shares
By resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on July 6, 2004, the
Executive Board was authorized to acquire, on or before January 5, 2006, shares

12/31/2006 12/31/2005 
EUR EUR

Sales tax payable 5.693 4.906 
Accrued Vacation 35.708 39.708 
Bonus Payments 197.826 122.019 
Other outstanding accruals 140.234 54.686 
Rent Amortization 51.878 44.437 
Commission 93.261 59.107 
401(k) payable 34.279 0
Supervisory board 3.858 44.272
Audit and Financial Statements Preparation 51.300 46.710
Total 614.037 415.845

12/31/2006 12/31/2005
Authorized ordinary shares at no par 
value (calculated value EUR 1.00 per share) 5.631.067 5.631.067 
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares at 
no par value (calculated value EUR 1.00 
per share) 5.552.986 5.552.986 
Treasury shares at no par value 78.081 78.081 
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Deferred tax asset 
At the balance sheet 12/31/2006 date, Artnet Corp. has total unused tax loss
carryforwards of USD 38.2 million (EUR 29.0 million) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset of EUR 679,314 was recognized in the 2006
financial statements for the first time on the existing tax loss carryforwards
of Artnet Corp. The tax rate used is 44 % and represents the average income
tax rate of Artnet Corp. The subsidiary has generated positive, taxable earn-
ings for the last three fiscal years and has already utilized a part of its tax loss
carryforwards.  For precautionary reasons, only those tax loss carryforwards
were capitalized which are likely to be realized in the next business year based
on the taxable profit expected for Artnet Corp. in its business plan. On tax loss
carryforwards in the amount of USD 36.2 million (EUR 27.4 million), no deferred
tax assets were recognized. Of these unused tax loss carryforwards USD 14.1
million (EUR 10.7 million) will expire in 2012. The remaining unused tax loss
carryforwards of Artnet Corp. will expire in 2018 and later.
Only deductible temporary differences exist between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities of Artnet Corp.and their
respective tax bases in the total amount of T EUR 422 as of 12/31/2006 (T EUR
981 as of 12/31/2005). No additional deferred taxes have been recognized on
those temporary differences in the periods presented.

Tax rate reconciliation
The following table reconciles the expected income tax expense to the income
tax expense presented in the financial statements. The used tax rate of 44 %
is the average income tax rate of the operating group company Artnet Corp.,
because Artnet. Corp. generates the taxable income.  

Due to its tax loss carryforwards, Artnet Corp. only has to pay the alternative
minimum corporation tax and the US-withholding tax on its dividend payments
to artnet AG.

9 – ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable is principally comprised of amounts outstanding for ongo-
ing costs. The average credit period taken for accounts payable is 45 days. The
carrying amount of accounts payable approximates their fair value.

10 – PROVISIONS 

Changes in the provisions in the financial year were as follows:

Currency
12/31/2005 Translation Utilization 12/31/2006 

EUR EUR EUR EUR
Prior Period 
Payroll Tax  71.774 (7.344) 64.430
Legal claims and litigation 84.440 (8.640) 34.516 41.284
Total 156.214 (15.984) 34.516 105.714

Year ended Year ended
12/31/2006 12/31/2005

T EUR T EUR
Profit before income taxes     1.882 1.187
Expected income tax expense – Tax rate 44 % 828 522
Reduction of current tax expenses due to benefit arising 
from previously unrecognized US-tax loss carryforwards (722) (486)
Benefit from recognition of deferred tax asset on US-tax 
loss carryforwards (714) 0
Income tax expense/(income) as presented on the 
income statement (608) 36
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There were no options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006
and December 31, 2005. The options outstanding at the end of December 31,
2006 had a weighted average exercise price of EUR 3.77, and a weighted aver-
age remaining contractual life of 5.42 years.
The weighted average fair value of the options granted in 2006 was EUR 4.75.
The fair value of the Company’s stock-option awards was estimated as of the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-price model with the following
assumptions:

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the
Company’s share price over the previous years.
The Company recognized total expenses of EUR 45,906 and EUR 14,420 
related to the equity-settled share based option plan in 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively.

16 – DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS 

The subsidiary Artnet Corp. has a savings plan, which qualifies under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of the USA for all qualifying employees.
The assets of the plan are held separately from those of Artnet Corp. in funds
under control of trustees. Participating employees may contribute up to 100%
of their annual salary but not more than statutory limits. The Company has a
discretionary matching contribution each year. In the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s matching contributions were EUR 31,553
and EUR 30,100, respectively.

17 – EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income by the weight-
ed-average number of common shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share are calculated in the same manner as basic earn-
ings per share with the exception that the average number of shares outstand-
ing increases by adding the potential number of shares from stock option con-
versions. The calculation of earnings per share is based on the following data:

12/31/2006 12/31/2005
Expected volatility 51% 75%
Expected Life 10 10
Risk-free interest rate 4,00% 4,00%
Expected dividends – –

Year ended Year ended
12/31/2006 12/31/2005

EUR EUR
Numerator (Earnings):
Net profit for the year retained for equity shareholders 2.489.440 1.151.374 
Denominator (Number of shares):
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used to calculate basic earnings per share 5,552,986 5,552,986 
Effect of potential shares: Stock options 150,000 106,000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used to calculate dilutive earnings per share 5,702,986 5,658,986 
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of artnet AG on the condition that such share purchases do not account for
more than 10 % of the Company’s common stock. 
As of December 31, 2005 and 2006 artnet AG held 78,081 of its own shares,
representing 1.4 % of common stock.

EXPLANATIONS TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

14 – PERSONNEL COSTS

The income statement includes the following personnel costs for the financial
years presented per expense category: 

The total personnel costs include social security expenses of 344,467 and
358,442 and 401(k) expenses of 31,553 and 30,100 as of December 31, 2006 and
2005 respectively.  

15 – SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled stock option plan
artnet’s 1999 stock option plan consists of 435,000 shares of common stock
with a nominal value of EUR 1.00 each. Of this amount, up to 285,000 shares
are available to the employees of the Company and affiliated entities, and up
to 150,000 shares are available to the members of management of the Com-
pany and affiliated entities. 
These shares are to be issued at a price that corresponds to the lower of the
average stock exchange quotation over the last ten bank workdays before the
day of the grant. The options cannot be exercised for two years after date of
grant, become vested and exercisable in four equal annual installments fol-
lowing the expiration of the two year holding period and expire ten years after
being granted. The Plan further provides that in order to exercise an option,
the stock exchange price last determined before the day of the intended exer-
cise of the option must exceed the exercise price by at least ten percent. Fur-
thermore, options are forfeited if the option holder leaves the Company with a
90 day expiration period for options that have become vested before the ter-
mination date.

Year ended Year ended
12/31/2006 12/31/2005

Personnel costs per cost category EUR EUR
Cost of Sales 1.034.733 919.697
Selling and Marketing 1.062.535 874.669
General Administrative 1.290.889 1.196.446
Product Development 111.281 119.649
Total Personnel costs 3.499.438 3.110.461

Weighted average 
Number of exercise price

Options (in EUR)
Outstanding January 1, 2005 248.750 3,23 
Granted in 2005 50.000 2,98 
Exercised in 2005 – –
Forfeited in 2005 (43.500) 2,15 
Outstanding December 31, 2005 255.250 3,50
Exercisable at December 31, 2005 170.250 3,97
Granted in 2006 30.000 7,19 
Exercised in 2006 – –
Forfeited in 2006 – –
Outstanding December 31, 2006 285.250 3,77 
Exercisable at December 31, 2006 190.250 3,65
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21 – SEGMENT REPORTING

Due to its relatively small size, the Company is not organized in different oper-
ating divisions. All products share a common platform and use the Company’s
resources on a common basis. Therefore, no segmentation in operating seg-
ments is provided.

Revenue by geographical area
The Company’s operations are primarily located in the USA represented by the
subsidiary Artnet Corp. with 45 full-time employees and 14 part-time employ-
ees. The artnet AG headquarters in Berlin consists of 5 full time employees
and 2 part-time employees. 
The following table provides an analysis of the Company’s revenue by geo-
graphical market:

Assets by geographical area
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount assets of the Group, and
additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, analyzed by
the geographical area in which the assets are located.

The liabilities of the Group are not allocated by geographical area, as this is
not possible in a meaningful way. 
The depreciation and amortization expenses of the Group companies apply to
fixed assets in the USA in the amount of EUR136,086 and to fixed assets in
Germany in the amount of EUR 19,394.

22 – OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Artnet Corp. leases its New York office facility under a non-cancelable oper-
ating lease that continues through March 31, 2012. artnet AG leases its Berlin
office under a non-cancelable operating lease continuing through December
31, 2010. Future minimum rental payments required as of December 31, 2006
are as follows:

Year ended Year ended
12/31/2006 12/31/2005 

Revenue EUR EUR
United States 5,427,905 4,730,141  
Europe 2.595.030 1.597.247 
Rest of World 392.753 181.480 
Total 8.415.688 6.508.868 

Carrying amount of assets Additions to fixed assets
Year ended Year ended

12/31/2006 12/31/2005 12/31/2006 12/31/2005
EUR EUR EUR EUR

USA 4.498.791 2.135.492 202.795 180.633 
Germany 185.452 128.242 15.055 39.357 
Rest of world – – – –
Total 4.684.243 2.263.734 217.850 219.990 

EUR
Within one year 285.416 
Between two and five years 981.974 
After more than five years 56.183 

1.323.573 
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18 – ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

Profit from Operations has been arrived at after charging:

Amortization for intangible assets was booked in the amount of EUR 74,183 in
2006 and EUR 47,463 in 2005.
Depreciation and Amortization are presented in the income statement as part
of cost of sales.
In 2006, the Group recognized income from exchange differences in the amount
of EUR 8,529 in profit and loss (2005: Expenses of EUR 1,970).

OTHER DISCLOSURES 

19 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and accounts receivable which
represent artnet’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its accounts receivable. The
amount presented in the balance sheet is net of allowances for doubtful
accounts, estimated by the Company’s management based on a number of fac-
tors including the aging of the receivable portfolio, as well as customer pay-
ment trends. 
The artnet Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure
spread over its large number of customers comprised of individuals and enti-
ties dealing in the fine art market. 
As the group companies have no significant financial liabilities, the group faces
no material liquidity risk and interest risk.
Market risks are mainly relevant in the form of currency exchange risks for the
group companies as most of the revenues are generated in US-Dollars, but a
material amount of the costs of the group companies has to be paid in Euro.
The artnet Group controls these currency exchange risks by invoicing its Euro-
pean customers in Euro or the local European currency and using these cash
payments to fulfill its obligations in Europe.
In the business years presented, the artnet group has not used any derivative
financial instruments. 

20 – EMPLOYEES

At December 31, 2006, there were 50 full time employees as compared with
42 in the previous year. Additionally, the company employed sixteen part-time
employees in 2006 as compared to six in the previous year and fourteen sales
and other consultants as compared to ten in 2005. 
The average monthly number of employees was:

Year ended Year ended
12/31/2006 12/31/2006 

Consolidated Consolidated
EUR EUR

Depreciation and Amortization 155.480 116.115 
Staff Costs (see Note 14) 3.499.438 3.110.461

Year ended Year ended
12/31/2006 12/31/2005

Operations and Administration 43 35
Sales and Marketing 6 7
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During the year ended December 31, 2001, Artnet Corp. entered into a $3 mil-
lion Split-Dollar Life Insurance policy with the Mass Mutual Insurance Com-
pany for the benefit of Mrs. Caroline Neuendorf, Mr. Neuendorf’s spouse. The
monthly insurance premiums of $4,221 are paid by  Artnet Corp. and record-
ed as a non-current loan receivable due from Mr. Neuendorf.  Artnet Corp.
maintains an interest in the policy up to the amount it has paid in premiums.
Upon Mr. Neuendorf’s death, proceeds from the insurance benefit will be used
to repay the loan to Artnet Corp.  The balance of the proceeds will be disbursed
to Mrs. Neuendorf. As of December 31, 2006 as a result of advances for the
Split-Dollar Life Insurance policy, Mr. Neuendorf has an outstanding balance
to Artnet Corp. of EUR 172,616. For necessary expenditures, Mr. Neuendorf
also received advances from Artnet Corp. in prior years in the amount of EUR
23,013 as of December 31, 2006.
Mr. Neuendorf or companies controlled by him own 1,461,635 shares of artnet AG. 

Supervisory Board
John D. Hushon, Naples/Florida, Chairman
Dr. Christian Dohm, Munich, Vice Chairman 
Klaus-Jochen Schaeffer, Hamburg
The supervisory board members’ remuneration in the fiscal years 2006 and
2005 amounted to EUR 33,750 as follows: 

Mr. Hushon holds 54,054 shares of artnet AG.
Mr. Schaeffer, or companies controlled by him, own 664,000 shares of artnet
AG. In 2001, Mr. Schaeffer provided a series of loans to artnet AG. The loans
carry an interest rate of 8% per annum. Interest expense for 2006 amounted
to EUR 7,465 (2005: EUR 30,098). As of December 31, 2006, the loans total EUR
25,653 including interest.
In 2006, the law firms associated with Dr. Dohm invoiced fees for legal and tax
consulting services and traveling expenses in the amount of EUR 17,000 to the
Company.

Other related party transactions
The son of Mr. Neuendorf, Mr. Jacob Pabst, is working for Artnet Corp. as an
IT-consultant. The fees charged by Mr. Pabst to Artnet Corp. in 2006 amount-
ed to EUR 124,529 including the rent for his apartment in New York that is paid
by Artnet Corp.

26 – ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires man-
agement estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts and relat-
ed disclosures. All estimates and assumptions are made to the best of man-
agement’s knowledge and belief in order to fairly present the Group’s financial
position and results of operations. The following accounting policies are sig-
nificantly impacted by management’s estimates and judgments.

Deferred income taxes
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether the realization of
future tax benefits is sufficiently probable to recognize deferred tax assets.
This assessment requires the exercise of judgment on the part of the manage-
ment with respect to, among other things, benefits that could be realized from

Year ended Year ended
12/31/2006 12/31/2005

EUR EUR
Mr. Hushon 15.000 15.000 
Dr. Dohm 11.250 11.250 
Mr. Schaeffer 7.500 7.500 
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Rent expenses for the Group amounted to EUR 315,061 and EUR 284,655 for
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
As of the end of 2006, Artnet Corp. had contractual commitments for the acqui-
sition of intangible assets (website development costs) in the amount of EUR
49,270 and technology related contractual obligations of EUR 115,600 in 2007
and 226,400 in 2008 of which artnet Corp has prepaid EUR 116,526. The pre-
paid amount is represented in other current assets on the balance sheet. 

23 – CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

The positive net cash flow provided by operating activities was EUR 1,967,304
in 2006 as compared to EUR 1,175,945 in the prior year. Primarily due to the
increase in accounts receivable and the not cash-relevant deferred tax asset,
the cash flow provided by operating activities is lower than net profit in 2006.
The net cash flows used for investing activities were EUR 250,320 and EUR
256,922 as of December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005. The primary factors
influencing the cash flow from investment activity in 2006 were investments in
fixed and intangible assets in the sum of EUR 217,850.
The net cash flows used for financing activities were EUR 113,008 in 2006 and
EUR 251,913 in 2005 resulting from loan payments to shareholders. The inter-
est paid on these loans of EUR 7,465 in 2006 and EUR 30,098 in 2005, respec-
tively, is included in the operating cash flow.

24 – FEES OF STATUTORY AUDITOR 

Auditor’s fees for the audit of the statutory financial statements of the Com-
pany and the consolidated financial statements amounted to EUR 42,600 and
EUR 32,000 in 2006 and 2005, respectively. In addition, the Company recorded
EUR 8,800 and EUR 8,000 for tax advisory services by the auditor and EUR
8,900 and EUR 14,000 for review and other certification services. All fees are
recognized as expenses in 2006 and 2005, respectively.  

25 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiary, which are related par-
ties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 

Executive Board
Hans Neuendorf is CEO of artnet AG and a director of Artnet Worldwide Cor-
poration.  
In the fiscal years 2006 and 2005, Mr. Neuendorf received the following remu-
neration from artnet AG:

During the years 1999, 2001 and 2002, Mr. Neuendorf did not receive any remu-
neration from the Company. Accordingly, in 2004 the Supervisory Board approved
total payments of EUR 675,000 to account for the remuneration owed to Mr.
Neuendorf by the Company for those business years. The resulting liability
was offset against previous payments to Mr. Neuendorf in the consolidated
financial statements. As of December 31, 2005, the Company owed Mr. Neuen-
dorf a net liability of EUR 243,941. The liability was repaid completely in 2006.

Year ended Year ended
12/31/2006 12/31/2005

EUR EUR
Fixed salary 250.000 250.000
Value of additional benefits (car usage) 8.200 6.500
Fixed remuneration components 258.200 256.500
Bonus (performance-related compensation) 64.400 40.600
Total 322.600 297.100
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by artnet AG,
Berlin, comprising the balance sheet, the income statement, statement of
changes in equity, cash flow statement and the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements, together with the group management report for the business
year from January 1, 2006 to December 31, 2006. The preparation of the con-
solidated financial statements and the group management report in accordan-
ce with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of Ger-
man commercial law pursuant to § (article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 HGB are
the responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the group
management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordan-
ce with § 317 HGB and German generally accepted standards for the audit of
financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Insti-
tute of Public Auditors in Germany) (IDW). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the
presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected
with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the eco-
nomic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible mis-
statements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures.
The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the
evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report are examined primarily on a test basis wit-
hin the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual finan-
cial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination
of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report. We believe that our audit provides a rea-
sonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.
In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial
statements comply with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requi-
rements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give
a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of opera-
tion of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The group manage-
ment report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a
whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the
opportunities and risks of future development.

Ebner, Stolz, Mönning GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Potthast Schützenmeister
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German public auditor) (German public auditor)

Hamburg, March 27, 2007

Independent Auditor’s Report
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available tax strategies and future taxable income, as well as other positive and
negative factors. The recorded amount of deferred tax assets could be reduced
if estimates of projected future taxable profits are lowered. The management
has chosen a prudent approach concerning the recognition of deferred tax
assets. See Note 8 for further information on potential tax benefits for which
no deferred tax asset is recognized.

27 – NOTIFICATIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH § 21 OF THE SECURTIES 
TRADING ACT  

Artis Capital Management, LLC, headquartered in San Francisco, USA, has
informed us that the proportion of its voting rights in our company exceeded
the 10% voting right limit on May 23 2006 in accordance with § 21, para. 1 of
the Securities Trading Act, and now amounts to 10.39%.  
The overall voting rights of 10.39% should therefore be assigned in accordance
with § 22, para.1, sentence 1, no. 6 of the Securities Trading Act.  
Furthermore, Artis Capital Management, Inc., headquartered in San Francis-
co, USA, has informed us that the proportion of its voting rights in our compa-
ny exceeded the 10% voting right limit on  May 23 2006 in accordance with 
§ 21, para. 1 of the Securities Trading Act, and now amounts to 10.39%.  
The overall voting rights of 10.39% should therefore be assigned in accordance
with § 22, para. 1, sentence 1, no. 6 of the Securities Trading Act and § 22,
para.1, sentence 2 of the Securities Trading Act.  
Moreover, Mr. Stuart L. Peterson, domiciled in San Francisco, USA, has informed
us that the proportion of his voting rights in our company exceeded the 10%
voting right limit on May 23 2006 in accordance with § 21, para. 1 of the Secu-
rities Trading Act, and now amounts to 10.39%.  
The overall voting rights of 10.39% should therefore be assigned in accordance
with § 22, para.1, sentence 1, no. 6 of the Securities Trading Act and § 22,
para.1, sentence 2 of the Securities Trading Act.  

28 – REPORT ON POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

artnet AG has received the admission to the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange. artnet shares are traded in the Prime Standard since Febru-
ary 1, 2007.
No other reportable events of significant importance have occurred after the
balance sheet date.

29 – GERMAN CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The German federal government published the German Code of Corporate
Governance in February 2002. It was last amended in June 2006. The Code
contains statutory requirements and a number of recommendations and sug-
gestions. Only the legal requirements are binding for German companies. With
regard to the recommendations, the German Stock Corporate Act, section 161,
requires that listed companies publicly state every year the extent to which
they comply with them. In December 2002, the Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board issued the required compliance statement for the first time. The
statement was last updated on December 18, 2006. These statements are avail-
able on the Company’s website.

Berlin, March 22, 2007

Hans Neuendorf Chief Executive Officer
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